
Date Published:20 January 2020     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee

Tuesday 28 January 2020 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

ORGANISATION ITEMS

1  APOLOGIES Stephen Bace

2  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 10) Stephen Bace

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Stephen Bace

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  HMI FIRE INSPECTION - UPDATE REPORT (Pages 11 - 64) Wayne Bowcock

5  GLOUCESTERSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE CABINET PANEL (Pages 65 
- 74)

Cllr David 
Norman MBE

DIRECTORS' REPORTS

6  DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT (Pages 75 - 78) Margaret Willcox 
OBE

7  DIRECTOR PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT (Pages 79 - 88) Sarah Scott

8  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 89 - 94) Wayne Bowcock

Membership –  Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chairman), Cllr Andrew Gravells, 
Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chairman), Cllr Shaun Parsons and 



    

Cllr Steve Robinson

Added Members - 

Co-Opted Member - 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring
Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior
to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Officer
:01452 324204/fax: 425850/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Thursday 7 November 2019 at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Steve Robinson 
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Shaun Parsons

Substitutes:

In attendance: Margaret Willcox
Sarah Scott
Wayne Bowcock
Jane Everiss
Cllr Dave Norman
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Kathy Williams 

Apologies: Cllr Andrew Gravells

1 APOLOGIES 

See above.

2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting on 29 October 2019 were agreed as a correct record.

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No additional declarations were made.

4 LIBRARIES 

4.1 Jane Everiss introduced the paper outlining the Council’s current position regarding 
libraries. She emphasised that public libraries were digital, creative and cultural 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

centres of excellence. They were seen as impartial non-threatening trusted 
community spaces with Gloucestershire Libraries receiving over 2 million visits per 
year. There was in increase of use from members of the community in deprived 
areas. 

4.2 The report outlined a number of statistics to demonstrate how libraries were part of 
the Gloucestershire Growth Hub network and were access points to business 
advice and information. In addition, libraries also supported the Council’s health 
agenda by providing health and wellbeing zones, dementia reading groups and 
books on prescription. 

4.3 The service provided children’s services in libraries where activities were provided 
to encourage reading and learning as well as supporting the School 
Ready agenda.

4.4 In addition, libraries provided access to free activities such as baby bounce and 
rhyme and reading clubs. Over 9,000 children had signed up for the Reading 
Challenge. The Service had launched its first innovation lab at Coleford library with 
a second ‘lab’ due to be installed in Gloucester Library.

4.5 With regards to the Mobile Library, the vehicle had failed a safety inspection test in 
March 2019. The service had worked hard to ensure that customers who previously 
used the service had been able to continue to access library services and there had 
been constant communication with individuals as detailed within the report. 

4.6 The service had identified 7 locations which, due to the numbers of borrowers (74 in 
total), who used the mobile regularly, would benefit from a community access point. 
The service had written to Parish Councils in order to work with them to agree 
community points within those locations. A further point at Northleach was also 
raised. 

4.7 The service was still liaising with GFRS to use an obsolete vehicle as a trial to fully 
understand the need prior to obtaining agreement to procure a new vehicle to 
support the service.

4.8 In response to a question it was explained that the mobile library historically had 
been about offering book lending. It did have access to a PC but having a working 
internet connection in rural areas was a challenge. Advice and guidance sessions 
had also been offered there. 

4.9 Members thanked the service on behalf of their local areas with Coleford Library 
and Nailsworth being mentioned. 

4.10 In response to a question it was stated that the community access points had yet to 
be set up, but the current service was working well. The majority of service users 
were accessing public library buildings.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

4.11 There was a discussion on the use of computers in libraries with it explained that 
while computer usage had declined, there had been an increase in the use of public 
Wi-Fi. This demonstrated that over time the way individuals accessed the internet 
had changed. There were still individuals who required access to ICT and the 
support of library staff to use it. The rollout of the Windows 10 programme would 
lead to the replacement of PCs and the wider area network review would also have 
an effect on what was provided. 

5 TRADING STANDARDS 

5.1 Wayne Bowcock, the Chief Fire Officer, updated the Committee on Trading 
Standards performance in the areas of animal welfare, counterfeit goods and Cyber 
Crime. 

5.2 Trading Standards was responsible for disease control amongst farmed animals. 
However, disease control could not be separated from animal welfare issues as 
farmers that did not meet welfare standards were invariably creating environments 
that also breached important disease control measures. Animal Welfare had always 
been a service priority with a number of specialist officers dedicated to working in 
the area. Funding from DEFRA had ceased in 2013 but the Council had continued 
to employ a significant proportion of available resources in that area. Due to the 
reduction in staffing the overall level of work had reduced with officers concentrating 
on high-risk and critical control points. Members noted the performance information 
which included 78 visits to markets, abattoirs and collection centres, 78 visits to 
farms or other interventions and 198 office based checks to ensure compliance.

5.3 7795 contacts from the public, business or other agencies were made in 2018/19. 
Service priorities were set to ensure resources were allocated to animal health 
work, protecting vulnerable consumers and responding to trends and styles of 
trading which presented the largest amount of consumer detriment or harm, as well 
as supporting local businesses by providing advice.

5.4 In 2018/19 Trading Standards received only 65 reports identifying counterfeit 
goods. This meant that although Trading Standards carried out work when it 
received intelligence that was a priority, much counterfeit activity remained un-
investigated. Trading Standards had seized 247,160 counterfeit cigarettes and 
481kg of counterfeit Hand Rolling Tobacco valued at £179,515. 57 counterfeit items 
were seized and 7 cases were currently within the legal process. There was not 
only a financial impact but also a health aspect. The team relied on the proceeds of 
crime to fund their work, but often that was a complex and could be a ‘drawn out’ 
process.

5.5 Members were informed that Trading Standards recognised that use of an internet 
connection was a vehicle that could be used to carry out criminal activity in the 
same manner as high street shops, cold calling and distance selling. Cyber-crime 
was changing the nature of policing in the UK, it was a borderless crime, and there 
was a similar impact on Trading Standards. Often several Trading Standards teams 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

would be involved or referred to other agencies. The Service had worked hard to 
build a relationship with Adult Social Care, especially safeguarding and accepted 
referrals in relation to service users who had been identified as being at risk from 
scams. Trading Standards did carry out visits, either alone or with social care staff 
to help ‘victims’ identify the signs of scams, to help them take any steps to recover 
losses and help build confidence. 

5.6 Brexit was on the radar for the Trading Standards team regarding animal welfare 
and cyber-crime. They were linked into national trading standards arrangements to 
ensure they were prepared for any changes to legislation. 

5.7 Members commented on the breadth of important tasks covered by Trading 
Standards. One member asked how many staff the Service had overall and how 
they were deployed and how those numbers had changed over the years. In 
response it was explained that there were 20 staff, and that the reduction in staff 
was about 50% over the last 10 years. That was a nationwide picture and was 
similar to other Trading Standards teams. There were statutory functions that 
needed to be delivered, and this was reflected in 4 staff being permanently 
dedicated to animal welfare. The team was multidisciplinary so when there was a 
large event that would draw more people and reduce capacity in other areas for a 
short period of time. Flexibility was the key. There would be restructuring due to 
leavers and the  addition of an apprentice; pay grades would also be looked up.

5.8 One member commented on the need to be proactive with regards to counterfeit 
goods and animal welfare, he asked whether a planned increase in staffing within 
the Fire and Rescue Service would also lead to an increase in capacity for the 
Trading Standards team. In addition he asked whether the service could cope with 
an outbreak of foot and mouth. In response the Chief Fire Officer outlined that every 
area of the Council could make their own case for additional resources. Staff were 
encouraged to engage with bordering counties and look to work together and share 
best practice.  He felt with that approach there was a smarter more efficient way of 
using available resources through collaboration. With regards to an issue such as 
foot and mouth, support would be drawn in from other areas. There were no plans 
to bring forward any recommendations to increase the capacity in this area. 

5.9 Cllr Dave Norman explained that over the last 10 to 20 years the public sector 
landscape had changed significantly. There were now less people employed by the 
County Council as a whole. The Director of the Service had given a clear response 
on how resources were used. Each Cabinet Member would fight their ‘corner’ for 
the portfolio they were responsible for. Unless the Director of the Service came 
forward with evidence and reasoning for additional resources being required he 
would not be asking for them. A member commented that the service had been 
‘depleted’ and asked the Cabinet member to be thorough when looking at whether 
the Service could cope in the future.

5.10 With regards to cross border work, one member asked about the relationship with 
the Forestry Commission and other agencies in relation to poaching and distribution 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

and disposal of meat in the Forest of Dean. A response would need to be provided 
to the member.
ACTION Wayne Bowcock

5.11 One member referenced the Forest of Dean ‘Commoners’ Association’ and thanked 
the Cabinet Member for attending. He noted that animal welfare was an issue when 
there were some individuals who were not part of the association.

5.12 The Chair noted the important work that was carried out with regards to vulnerable 
adults.

6 DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 

6.1 Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health, gave a presentation that outlined the 
significant information within the Annual Report. The focus was on 
Gloucestershire’s economic prosperity to tackle health inequalities. The report 
stated that what was good for health was also good for business, increased 
performance and productivity and lower sickness absence for example. Members 
noted the ‘health and wealth’ cycle.

6.2 It was explained that while the Gloucestershire population was comparatively 
healthy, this hid inequality. The life expectancy gap for males between the most 
deprived and least deprived wards was 8.1 years. 

6.3 Inclusive growth was a crucial part of any strategy to increase productivity. Tackling 
inequalities through inclusive growth should also tackle poor long term economic 
performance and improve the productive potential of Gloucestershire. Members 
noted the current model of ‘grow now and redistribute later’ against the newer 
model.

6.4 The Committee were informed of social mobility across early years and school 
readiness, educational attainment and post 16 options and rewarding employment 
opportunities. Members noted the social mobility index ranking across the districts.

6.5 With regards to school readiness, it was explained that this was a key determinant 
of outcomes in later life, with Gloucestershire’s performance in line with the national 
average however children in receipt of free school meals were likely to fare less 
well.

6.6 The Committee noted the key infrastructure related actions to support inclusive 
growth such as social value from infrastructure projects, delivering affordable 
housing and investing in public transport.

6.7 Around 74,000 people were working in health, care and public sectors in 
Gloucestershire in 2015. There were opportunities here to drive inclusive growth 
through future workforce, employment practices, procurement spend, social value, 
public estate and health innovations.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

6.8 There were a number of recommendations within the report directed at the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and GFirst as well as other partner organisations within the 
public sector and in business. The report would go to both the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and GFirst and work was being undertaken by Leadership Gloucestershire.

6.9 One member asked whether in some areas of the county the attainment gap 
between those eligible for free school meals and their class mates was reducing 
with respect to the Good Level of Development social mobility indicator. He asked 
whether the good practice could be taken forward and that improvement be seen 
across the board. In response it was explained that good practice was examined 
and then rolled out more widely. 2018/19 figures demonstrated an improvement 
bringing the County up to the national average but the aspiration was to do better 
than that. The focus should be on early years and ensure pupils were ‘school 
ready’. A briefing could be provided to the member outside of the meeting on the 
work taking place in this area.
ACTION Sarah Scott

6.10 One member asked whether the public health visitor workforce was at the numbers 
needed in Gloucestershire. In response, it was stated that this was an area of 
recent investment. More could always be done, but there were sufficient recourses 
to carry out the statutory duties.  

6.11 In response to question regarding rural bus services being reduced and the 
disadvantage to those in rural communities it was explained that there had been an 
announcement by government to increase funding in public transport which should 
see funding coming to Gloucestershire. 

6.12 One member raised the fact that the Joseph Roundtree Trust had suggested 
collaborating to build capacity to allow smaller suppliers to bid for public 
procurement opportunities and asked if the County Council were following that 
recommendation. In response it was explained that the Council were doing this 
either by putting out contracts in ‘lots’ to encourage a partnership by providers or by 
larger organisations subcontracting with smaller ones. It was recognised that for 
some suppliers it was difficult to bid for contracts. Members were informed of the 
Enabling Active Communities Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Sector 
Engagement Strategy to upskill  and empower parts of the system.  

6.13 Cllr Tim Harman, as Cabinet Member, stated that there was a need to reduce the 
health inequalities in the County. He noted the work of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and stated that this was a vital part of making progress. There was 
willingness from all organisations to improve and look for other opportunities. 

7 DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

7.1 Margaret Willcox, Director of Adult Social Care, introduced the report detailing the 
Thriving Communities Grants introduced in April 2018 as part of the Adult Social 
Care Change programme. 77 applications for a grant had been received up to 
£7500. This was linked to the ‘Know Your Patch Network’ and the three tier 
conversation in adult social care. 

7.2 Members noted the detail around the new blue badge legislation and the detail 
around the new eligibility criteria. It was explained that there the team only charged 
an  administration fee when a blue badge was given, but if work was undertaken to 
explore whether someone was eligible and a badge wasn’t issued then no fee could 
be charged. It was explained that the same number of parking bays were available 
but potentially double the number of people had been issued with badges. 
Members were concerned about the restricted number of parking bays available to 
meet the demand. One member gave details of her positive experience with 
members of the public making an application. 

8 DIRECTOR PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

8.1 Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health, introduced the report referring to the Time to 
Talk event to mark World Mental Health Day. 

8.2 1,444 staff and members had taken part in the flu vaccination programme in 
Gloucestershire County Council. The target was 1,800 vaccinations.

8.3 Members noted the information of the NHS Long Term Plan and understood that a 
final submission was due on 15 November and there would be further updates to 
members.

8.4 The draft joint Health and Wellbeing strategy was in the final stage of engagement.

8.5 The Committee noted the data set on indices of multiple deprivations within the 
report. One member stated that she would welcome more information on what was 
considered as part of determining an area of multiple deprivations. In response it 
was explained that there were eight separate measures and we needed to be 
careful in its use. A future report would include that information for members. 

8.6 One member raised the successful approach of ‘happy to chat’ benches. It was 
acknowledged that this could help tackle loneliness and isolation. The member 
asked that whatever initiatives regarding loneliness and isolation be outlined to the 
Committee. Other members discussed how existing benches could be used for this 
purpose. It was agreed that the Committee would consider an item at a future 
meeting on the work that was being carried out to tackle loneliness and isolation. 
ACTION Sarah Scott/Emma Savage/ Lead Members

8.7 One member provided details on an initiative carried out in Coleford regarding the 
development of some land by the community which included, CCTV, public toilets, 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

paths and benches. This had been really successful in bringing the community 
together. 

9 CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

9.1 Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer, explained that a programme board and been 
established in relation to HMICFRS Inspection with a report due at the end of 
December. A copy of the pre-publication heck report had been seen and several 
actions were being put in place alongside the actions from the Audit report. There 
were still further audit reports to be received as there were still specific 
investigations ongoing.

9.2 Members noted the GFRS Structural Review and there had been support from 
across departments and from Cabinet to help project manage the process. The 
organisation had given its own feedback and the conversation had been positive 
and received well. The Committee noted the new appointments as outlined within 
the report. 

9.3 It was explained that community fire stations were community assets and could be 
used to help tackle isolation and loneliness.

9.4 The Committee noted the update on the Coroners Service including the new 
appointment of two Assistant Coroners.

9.5 With regards to Performance the service was liaising with Human Resources to 
bring in secondary contracts in relation to missing the target on the safe and well 
visits.

9.6 Members were informed that the Mortuary regulatory body the Human Tissue 
Authority had recently issued their annual compliance questionnaire and 
Gloucestershire had retained its licence as no concerns had been identified. 
Members congratulated the team on this.

9.7 Members queried whether there was any breakdown of types of fire relating to the 
indicator on number of accidental dwelling fires. One member was thinking about 
whether there was any advice that could be relayed to the community. In response 
it was explained that the local station manager could provide support to members 
who wished to pass on information or educate community groups. It was noted that 
accidental dwelling fires included people living independently or alone, kitchen fires 
and open fires (which were more prevalent this time of year). It was important to 
recognise that the numbers were still very low. 

9.8 One member asked whether faulty white goods had been a cause of fires and was 
informed that yes this accounted for some and that the service worked with Trading 
Standards around this.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

9.9 One member asked for clarification around how uncertainty around Brexit was 
affecting the animal welfare team. It was explained that leaving the European Union 
could lead to legislative changes relating to animal welfare that the team would 
need to react to. The Committee understood the work that was being carried out 
with Sarah Scott as the Brexit Lead for the County Council assessing the risks and 
implications of legislative changes. Brexit planning had been paused nationally and 
locally. Guidance was being provided by central Government. 

9.10 One member expressed surprise that Brexit did not feature in the risk register for 
the services the committee were considering. Officers would go back to the 
performance team to see why the risk had not been flagged up on the service 
specific risk register.
ACTION Sarah Scott/ Performance Report 

9.11 One member asked if it would be worth Councillors visiting the Coroners Court and 
was informed that members were welcome to visit. It was also suggested that the 
Court could host a meeting of the Committee in the future. This would be something 
to discuss at a future work planning meeting. 

10 PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 2 2019/20 

Performance data was picked up within the individual Director Reports.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12:00

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Title Chief Fire Officer Report – Adult and Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Civil 
Protection and Coroners Services. 

Date 28th January 2020

Purpose of Report To update the committee on the HMICFRS full inspection report and 
progress in the areas identified for improvement.

Agenda Item 4 – HMICFRS Fire Inspection – Update Report

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services – Update 
Report. 

1. Background

1.1 HMICFRS – In 2017, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary was expanded to 
include inspections of England’s Fire and Rescue Service. They now report on the 
efficiency, effectiveness and people of the 45 Fire and Rescue Services in England.  The 
full inspection of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) took place in June 
2019 and the full report was published on the 17th December 2019.

1.2 Questions – The principal questions which the inspection programme is designed to 
answer are:

Principal Question Inspection Focus
How effective is the fire and rescue 
service at keeping people safe and 
secure from fire and other risks?

How well the fire and rescue service 
understands its current and future 
risks, works to prevent fires and other 
risks, protects the public through the 
regulation of fire safety, responds to 
fires and other emergencies, and 
responds to national risks. 

How efficient is the fire and rescue 
service at keeping people safe and 
secure from fire and other risks

How well the fire and rescue service 
uses its resources to manage risk, and 
secures an affordable way of providing 
its service, now and in the future.

How well does the fire and rescue 
service look after its people?

How well the fire and rescue service 
promotes its values and culture, trains 
its staff and ensures that they have the 
necessary skills, ensures fairness and 
diversity for its workforce, and 
develops leaders

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



2

1.3 Initial Actions – Following the fieldwork week, a debrief was delivered to GFRS by the 
inspection team. The feedback was recorded and an action-plan was produced to help 
manage the improvement process. The Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Programme Board was established to coordinate and assure progress in areas for 
improvement highlighted by the HMICFRS inspection team (and GCC audit reports). The 
board is comprised of the Lead Cabinet Member for Public Protection and Libraries Cllr 
Dave Norman, CFO Wayne Bowcock, ACFO Mark Preece, ACFO Mark Astle, Darren 
Skinner (Planning and Coordination Manager), Jon McGinty (Commissioning Director) 
and Matt Amey (Strategic Support Officer). All HMICFRS and Audit outcomes and 
recommendations have been themed and department heads have been briefed on the 
actions that need to be completed. The board meet regularly to monitor and assure 
progress.

1.4 Causes for Concern – In September (2019) the Service received a letter from Wendy 
Williams, Her Majesty’s Inspector of Fire & Rescue Services. It stated that following 
consideration of the evidence collected during the inspection, the inspectorate had 
identified two causes for concern in relation to how GFRS keeps the public safe through 
the regulation of fire safety and how the service promotes its values and culture. A re-
inspection of fire safety was arranged for November 2019 and progress towards the 
values and culture will be reviewed during the next round of full inspections this year 
(2020).  

1.5 Fire Safety Re-inspection – The HMICFRS re-inspection of Fire Protection took place 
from 20th - 22nd November and the results were conveyed to the CFO in a letter from 
Wendy Williams on the 10th December (2019). The letter indicated that overall, 
HMICFRS were encouraged by the progress the Service had been making, noting that 
suitable governance arrangements were in place and that the leadership of both GFRS 
and GCC were treating the improvement of Fire Protection as a priority. 

2. Full Inspection Report

2.1 Introduction - The Inspection found a number of areas that they were satisfied with, 
however the remainder of this report will focus on the areas that were recommended for 
improvement and what GFRS is doing to make those improvements.

2.2 Effectiveness

Understanding the risk of fire and other emergencies
1 The service should ensure the data it collects to inform its integrated risk 

management plan is understood and used to manage its risk within the 
County. 
GFRS is currently developing the 2021-2024 IRMP. The Service is working 
with the GCC Planning, Performance and Change Team and the Data and 
Analysis Team to ensure that the correct data is collated to produce a good 
understanding of risk. An external data analysis company is being sourced to 
provide independent expert analysis. 

2 The service should ensure it gathers and records relevant and up-to-date risk 
information and ensure a programme of risk site visits. 

GFRS has developed a protection strategy, setting the objectives for the risk-
based inspection programme. 

Page 12



3

Preventing fires and other risks
3 The service should ensure it targets the most vulnerable referrals as a priority, 

and that staff understand the service’s high risk factor categories. 
The Service aims to ensure 75% of Safe & Well visits are delivered to the 
most vulnerable. The report also highlighted the backlog in Safe and Well 
(S&W) visits. This has been reduced from 701 (waiting for more than 28 days) 
to 88. 

Protecting the public through fire regulation
4 agree a plan to ensure its risk-based inspection programme is sufficiently 

resourced and targets its highest-risk premises; 
This area of concern has been re-inspected and HMICFRS are content with 
progress. The risk-based inspection programme, strategy and definition of 
high-risk have all been produced and inspected. 

5 ensure it conducts the number and frequency of high-risk premise audits that 
it sets out in its inspection programme. 
GCC has invested to ensure the Protection Team is well resourced. An 
additional 3 Inspectors have been recruited since the inspection. 

Responding to fires and other emergencies
6 The service should ensure its response strategy provides the quickest 

response for the public. 
A response Strategy has been produced and response targets are being 
reviewed as part of the IRMP development. 

7 The service should ensure it understands what it needs to do to adopt 
national operational guidance, including joint and national learning. It should 
then put in place a plan to do so. 
A GAP analysis has been produced and the NOG team has been 
supplemented with additional staff. A full project plan has also been produced 
for the introduction of NOG.

8 The service should ensure it has an effective system for staff to use learning 
and debriefs to improve operational response and incident command. 
The new structure now includes an Operational Assurance Team that will 
work with Learning &Development to assure incident command and manage 
operational learning. 

Responding to national risks
9 The service should ensure its firefighters have good access to relevant and 

up-to-date risk information. This should include cross-border risk information. 
Cross-border risks information has been collated and is being uploaded onto 
the GFRS database so that it can be accessed by all fire appliances via the 
mobile data terminals.

10 The service should make sure it runs a programme of service, cross-border 
and partner exercises, sharing the learning from these exercises. 
Cross-border training and exercises are now recorded on a database and 
Local Risk Managers are in the process of planning collaborative training with 
neighbouring FRS’s 

2.3 Efficiency

Making the best use of resources
1 The service needs to show a clear rationale for the resources allocated 

between prevention, protection and response activities. This should be linked 
to risks and priorities set out in its integrated risk management plan. 
Business Planning is following closely the development of national guidance 
for IRMP’s by the NFCC Central Programme Office. Development of the 2021-
2024 Gloucestershire IRMP will ensure risk based resource allocation and a 
balance between protection, prevention and response.

Page 13



4

2 The service should ensure it effectively monitors, reviews and evaluates the 
benefits and outcomes of any collaboration. 
An additional post has been approved and a Station Manager has been 
recruited and appointed as the Service Collaboration Manager. They will be 
responsible for identifying valuable collaboration opportunities and ensuring 
existing collaborations and partnerships are reviewed and evaluated.   

Making the Fire and Rescue Service affordable now and in the future
3 The service should ensure it has sufficient capability and capacity to manage 

future change. 
Reintegration with GCC is providing increased support and capacity in the 
areas of procurement and recruitment. The IRMP development will be looking 
closely at the allocation of resources to risk to ensure that it considers future 
developments and future capacity in its forward planning. 

2.4 People.

Promoting the right values and culture
1 The service should ensure its programme for testing and maintaining 

equipment has suitable managerial oversight. 
A new Service Health and Safety Advisor is being recruited. It will be their 
responsibility to ensure testing and maintenance is well managed, and station 
audits will ensure this is carried out through the Assurance Team. 

2 The service should publish its new values and vision for the service to all staff. 
GFRS has aligned with  the GCC core values and published this on the 
Service intranet. In addition, the Senior Leadership Team are facilitating a 
series of workshops to all stations and teams (including headquarters and 
workshop staff) to gain support and understanding of the new values. This 
started in December and should be complete by the end of January 2020. 

3 The pathway for change the service chooses should be clearly documented 
for the organisation to follow. 
The Service re-structure went through full staff consultation, with a clear 
communications strategy including workshops for all staff and regular 
updates. Staff feedback regarding the consultation and structural review have 
been comprehensively encouraging. 

4 Managers need to be seen to demonstrate the new values through their 
behaviours to rebuild trust. 
Service Managers have also received the new GCC Core Values workshops, 
and Senior Managers are discussing their role and the importance of example 
setting as part of the core values delivery. 

Getting the right people with the right skills
5 The service should ensure it has oversight and assurance that local specialist 

training is recorded and managed 
Additional workshops are being developed by GFRS Learning and 
Development Team to ensure the recording and oversight of specialist 
training.

6 The service should ensure it has development support for all newly promoted 
managers 
A joint GCC/GFRS Organisational Development Strategy is being developed 
that will be delivered to all newly promoted managers. This is in addition to the 
coaching pool already available and will include GCC courses already 
available, management apprenticeships and the development of a ‘values 
centred’ leadership course. 

Ensuring fairness and promoting diversity
7 The service needs to understand and address the impact positive action is 

having on staff. 

Page 14



5

Joint assessment of the recruitment process and the impacts of positive action 
is being developed with Oxfordshire and Warwickshire Fire and Rescue 
Services. 

8 The service should assure itself that it has effective grievance procedures. It 
should identify and implement ways to improve staff confidence in the 
grievance process. 
The grievance procedure is being reviewed throughout GCC. GFRS are 
contributing to this as part of the working group.

Managing Performance and developing leaders
9 The service should ensure it has an effective system in place to manage staff 

development, performance and productivity. 
As discussed, a joint Organisational Development Strategy is being developed 
with GCC to ensure staff development. 

10 The service should put in place an open and fair process to identify, develop 
and support high-potential staff and aspiring leaders 
 The Learning and Development Manager is currently producing a 
‘Development Pathways’ Policy following visits to FRS’s that received 
favourable feedback after their HMICFRS inspection in the area of 
development.

2.5 Summary – Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service fully supports the aims of the 
inspectorate and welcomes the recommendations as part of its improvement plan. The 
report is reflective of the Service six months ago, however the initial ‘hot-debrief’ 
delivered by the inspection team enabled a progressive action-plan to be developed that 
has already delivered improvement in most areas identified in the full report. The letter 
received following the re-inspection in November 2019 noted that suitable governance 
arrangements were in place and that HMICFRS were ‘encouraged’ by the changes 
GFRS had already made. The GFRS Programme Board will now review the action-plan 
to reflect the full inspection report and continue developing in the areas identified for 
improvement. 

Report end

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Fire & Rescue Service 
Effectiveness, efficiency and people 
2018/19 
An inspection of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 

 

Page 17



 

 i 

Contents 

About this inspection 1 

Service in numbers 2 

Overview 4 

Effectiveness 7 

How effective is the service at keeping people safe and secure? 8 

Summary 8 

Understanding the risk of fire and other emergencies 9 

Preventing fires and other risks 11 

Protecting the public through fire regulation 14 

Responding to fires and other emergencies 16 

Responding to national risks 19 

Efficiency 22 

How efficient is the service at keeping people safe and secure? 23 

Summary 23 

Making best use of resources 24 

Making the fire and rescue service affordable now and in the future 26 

People 28 

How well does the service look after its people? 29 

Summary 29 

Promoting the right values and culture 30 

Getting the right people with the right skills 32 

Ensuring fairness and promoting diversity 33 

Managing performance and developing leaders 35 
 

Annex A – About the data 37 

Annex B – Fire and rescue authority governance 43 

Page 18



 

 1 

About this inspection 

This is the first time that HMICFRS has inspected fire and rescue services  

across England. Our focus is on the service they provide to the public, and the way 

they use the resources available. The inspection assesses how effectively and 

efficiently Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service prevents, protects the public 

against and responds to fires and other emergencies. We also assess how well it 

looks after the people who work for the service. 

In carrying out our inspections of all 45 fire and rescue services in England, we 
answer three main questions: 

1. How effective is the fire and rescue service at keeping people safe and secure 
from fire and other risks? 

2. How efficient is the fire and rescue service at keeping people safe and secure from 
fire and other risks? 

3. How well does the fire and rescue service look after its people? 

This report sets out our inspection findings. After taking all the evidence into account, 
we apply a graded judgment for each of the three questions. 

What inspection judgments mean 

Our categories of graded judgment are:  

• outstanding; 

• good; 

• requires improvement; and 

• inadequate. 

Good is our ‘expected’ graded judgment for all fire and rescue services. It is based on 
policy, practice or performance that meet pre-defined grading criteria, which are 
informed by any relevant national operational guidance or standards. 

If the service exceeds what we expect for good, we will judge it as outstanding. 

If we find shortcomings in the service, we will judge it as requires improvement. 

If we find serious critical failings of policy, practice or performance of the fire and 
rescue service, we will judge it as inadequate.

Page 19



 

 2 

Service in numbers 

 

Page 20



 

 3 

Page 21



 

 4 

Overview 

 
Effectiveness  

Requires improvement 

Understanding the risk of fire and other emergencies  
Requires improvement 

Preventing fires and other risks   
Requires improvement 

Protecting the public through fire regulation  
Inadequate 

Responding to fires and other emergencies  
Requires improvement 

Responding to national risks  
Requires improvement 

 

 
Efficiency  

Requires improvement 

Making best use of resources  
Requires improvement 

Making the fire and rescue service affordable now 
and in the future  

Requires improvement 

  

Page 22



 

 5 

 
People  

Requires improvement 

Promoting the right values and culture  
Inadequate 

Getting the right people with the right skills  
Requires improvement 

Ensuring fairness and promoting diversity  
Requires improvement 

Managing performance and developing leaders  
Requires improvement 

   

Page 23



 

 6 

Overall summary of inspection findings 

We are satisfied with some aspects of the performance of Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (FRS). But there are several areas where the service needs to  
make improvements. 

The effectiveness of Gloucestershire’s service requires improvement. The way it 
protects the public through fire regulation is inadequate. It requires improvement to: 

• its understanding of the risk of fire and other emergencies; 

• the way it prevents fires and other risks; 

• its response to fires and other emergencies; and 

• its response to national risks. 

Gloucestershire FRS requires improvement to the efficiency of its services. We judge 
it to require improvement in how it uses resources and makes its services affordable. 

The service requires improvement to the way it looks after its people. The way it 
promotes the right values and culture is inadequate. It requires improvement in: 

• getting the right people with the right skills; 

• ensuring fairness and promoting diversity; and 

• managing performance and developing leaders. 

Overall, we would like to see improvements in the year ahead.

Page 24



 

 7 

Effectiveness

Page 25



 

 8 

How effective is the service at keeping people 

safe and secure? 

 

Requires improvement 

Summary 

An effective fire and rescue service will identify and assess the full range of 
foreseeable fire and rescue risks its community faces. It will target its fire prevention 
and protection activities to those who are at greatest risk from fire. It will make sure 
businesses comply with fire safety legislation. When the public calls for help, the fire 
and rescue service should respond promptly with the right skills and equipment to deal 
with the incident effectively. Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service’s overall 
effectiveness requires improvement. 

The service doesn’t currently show enough ambition to improve through its integrated 
risk management plan (IRMP). It needs to base its plan on a full understanding of risk. 
This should show how the service plans to address risk through a balanced approach 
to prevention, protection and response activity. 

The service needs to manage its prevention work better. It should focus this work on 
the people most at risk and carry out home fire safety checks more promptly. It also 
needs to reduce the backlog of high-risk safe and well referrals. More positively, the 
service’s SkillZONE initiative is a proactive approach to safety education for children 
and other target groups. The service collaborates with other organisations to provide 
safety advice and messages. It also works with its partner organisations to support 
vulnerable people and reduce demand. 

We are concerned that the service has not given its protection responsibilities 
sufficient importance or enough staff to manage its duties. It needs to develop a clear 
protection strategy to direct how it will manage its risk-based inspection programme.  
It should make sure it can offer specialist protection advice 24/7. And it should work 
more closely with businesses to share information and make sure they comply with 
fire safety regulations.  

Page 26

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/integrated-risk-management-plan-irmp/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/integrated-risk-management-plan-irmp/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/home-fire-safety-check/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/vulnerable-people/


 

 9 

The service’s response strategy should make sure it provides the quickest response 
for the public. It needs to adopt national operational guidance (NOG), including  
joint learning. Operational staff should develop a better understanding of the joint 
decision model and use of discretion. However, the service does make good use of its 
on-call staff, using them for a range of specialist response roles and as community 
safety advisers. 

The service’s training for national incidents needs to improve. It should make sure its 
staff have access to the risk information they need, and carry out shared training 
exercises with neighbouring services and partner organisations. 

Understanding the risk of fire and other emergencies 

 

Requires improvement 

 

All fire and rescue services should identify and assess all foreseeable fire and  
rescue-related risks. They should also prevent and mitigate these risks. 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Understanding local and community risk 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has an IRMP that covers the period  
2018–2021. The service used the county council’s consultation services department to 
maximise public engagement and shape the plan. The service told us it received 147 
responses to its consultation, although it had hoped to receive more. The IRMP made 
few changes to the previous plan for 2015–2018 and, in our view, the service showed 
limited ambition to improve how it operates. 

Local resilience managers engage at district level with local partner organisations, 
such as social housing, to gather local intelligence. The service has maps highlighting 
at-risk groups within the area that allow managers to target their prevention work. 
However, we couldn’t see how it uses this local information to guide its wider risk 
profile as part of its IRMP.  

Areas for improvement 

• The service should ensure the data it collects to inform its integrated  
risk management plan is understood and used to manage its risk within  
the county. 

• The service should ensure it gathers and records relevant and up-to-date risk 
information and ensure a programme of risk site visits. 

Page 27

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-operational-guidance/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/on-call/


 

 10 

The service uses a range of data to identify local risk. This includes information from 
partner organisations such as the Safer Gloucestershire Partnership, which holds a 
range of data on crime, health and anti-social behaviour. However, the partnership 
doesn’t receive fire and rescue service data to add to the picture of overall risk in  
the county. 

The service’s computer modelling uses various data (dwelling house fires, other 
building fires, casualties, and indices of multiple deprivation) to create a risk map to 
inform its IRMP. This allows it to define risk, target resources and map problems such 
as arson. The service previously used an external consultancy to evaluate its 
response model and the location of its fire stations and fire engines. This resulted  
in it changing its crewing arrangements at Cirencester and closing an on-call station  
at Painswick. This was part of its 2015–2018 IRMP and the data was used for its 
2018–2021 IRMP as well. 

The service doesn’t engage with partner organisations on a regular basis to 
understand current and future risk and what it will need to plan for. We recognise this 
is now changing in preparation for the next IRMP in 2022. 

Having an effective risk management plan 

The service’s IRMP reflects the national risk assessment and the local community risk 
register, as well as highlighting risk sites within the county. 

The IRMP has a strong emphasis towards prevention and collaboration with partner 
organisations, such as the county council and clinical commissioning group. But it 
doesn’t have enough detail about protection and response. 

The IRMP has three objectives: 

1. Increased focus on prevention and protection. 

2. Explore, further develop and maximise opportunities to collaborate with partners 
and other stakeholders. 

3. Reconfigure and reform our service. 

An annual business plan and a prevention strategy underpin the IRMP.  
These documents don’t clearly set out who is responsible for actions or identify any 
targets for completing them. As a result, the business plan doesn’t make it clear how 
the service will manage risk to the public or meet the requirements of the Fire and 
Rescue National Framework for England. 

Maintaining risk information 

The service’s handling of risk information is mixed. It doesn’t collect, or manage 
effectively, risk information for sites that present a risk to firefighters and members of 
the public. The service told us it rates risk using the provision of operational risk 
information system (PORIS) methodology. However, in most of the risk ratings we 
examined, we found discrepancies between how the service had rated risk and what 
the grading should have been using the PORIS methodology. This leads to 
inconsistencies across the service.  

Page 28

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/fire-and-rescue-national-framework/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/fire-and-rescue-national-framework/


 

 11 

The firefighters we interviewed were confident accessing up-to-date risk information 
through mobile data terminals (MDTs) on fire engines. However, staff told us older 
MDTs weren’t reliable. The service was in the process of rolling out replacement 
MDTs at the time of our inspection and this had greatly improved reliability. 

As at 31 December 2018, the service had 175 risk sites. In the nine months to 31 
December 2018, it had inspected 147 of them. Most of the records we reviewed were 
in date for their planned inspection. 

Wholetime staff have a programme of inspections and visits to all the risk sites within 
their fire station area, with information recorded on an IT system. The allocation of 
inspections is rotated to make sure all staff visit every site within a four-year cycle, 
with high-risk sites taking priority. On-call staff don’t routinely visit risk sites. 

The service’s local resilience managers attend safety advisory groups within their 
areas. For short-term risks, such as sprinklers temporarily not working, fire control 
shares information on the service’s mobilising system to alert crews where necessary. 
For example, the planning of the Cheltenham Gold Cup included training for staff and 
temporary risk plans on the MDTs. This information is given an owner and review date 
to make sure it is removed when no longer relevant. 

We saw effective exchange of information carried out during shift changes and during 
on-call training evenings. The service uses ‘stop and go’ notices for health and safety 
problems that need something to be highlighted and then actioned. All staff need to 
read and sign the notices to confirm they understand them. However, this process is 
inconsistent and doesn’t currently give the organisation assurance that staff have read 
and understood the information. 

Preventing fires and other risks 

 

Requires improvement 

 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Prevention strategy 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has a comprehensive strategy  
for prevention. It has established partnerships to target activity at people who  
are at the greatest risk of fire. The service provides safe and well visits and takes 
referrals from partner organisations such as housing associations and the Gloucester 
Deaf Association. The service leads a sub-group of the Gloucester adult safeguarding 
board to provide opportunities to reduce demand for fire, health and social services. 

Areas for improvement 

• The service should ensure it targets the most vulnerable referrals as a priority, 
and that staff understand the service’s high risk factor categories.  

Page 29

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/mobile-data-terminal/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/wholetime-firefighter
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/fire-control/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/mobilisation/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/safe-and-well-visits/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/safeguarding/


 

 12 

The service has identified seven fatal fire risk factors that it uses to target and 
prioritise prevention work. These are: 

• the victim lives alone; 

• alcohol; 

• housekeeping and housing concerns; 

• limited mobility; 

• mental health needs; 

• drugs (both prescription and illegal); and 

• smoking. 

Since 2016, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has provided telecare call 
handling and response to more than 500 subscribers who don’t have next of kin  
close by. Fire control sends an on-call firefighter to respond if there is an activation of 
the system. On-call staff carry out this role on a voluntary basis. The service has 
completed an internal evaluation of the benefits of this agreement. It recognises that 
the management arrangements should be more formal. With these improvements in 
place, we recognise the value this could have for the public in Gloucestershire. 

The service has developed a pilot project with Gloucestershire Hospital Trust, with a 
part-funded staff member who takes on the role of care navigator. They identify those 
with potential vulnerabilities and co-ordinate partner organisations to provide 
additional support. This support is designed to prevent re-admission within 90 days 
and reduce the chance of fires. It reflects the fact that a higher proportion of dwelling 
fires involve older people who have just been discharged from hospital. 

Promoting community safety 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service carries out significant prevention work for 
the size of the service.  

In the year to 31 March 2018, the service carried out 7,649 safe and well checks.  
This equates to 12.2 safe and well checks per 1,000 population, which is above the 
rate for England of 10.4. These visits include fire safety activities such as identifying 
and reducing fire risks and fitting fire alarms, as well as welfare-related activities such 
as health screening and advice on health prevention, social welfare and how to avoid 
trips and falls. In the same period, 37.4 percent of these checks were to households 
occupied by a person registered as disabled. This is above the England rate of 24.7 
percent and an increase since 2014/15. The service targeted 54.3 percent of these 
checks at households occupied by an elderly person, a similar rate to the England 
average (54.1 percent). 

However, at the time of inspection, the service had a backlog of over 800 safe and 
well visits. The service allocates visits to wholetime crews in their own station area 
and to community safety advisers (on-call staff who volunteer to carry out safe and 
well visits in on-call areas or where visits are more complex in nature). There is an 
electronic system to manage referrals and record visits. But the service doesn’t 
manage the allocation of staff to high-priority safe and well visits. In some cases, this 
means high-risk visits have been awaiting allocation for months. The service should 
address the backlog and make sure its monitoring of referrals is effective. 

Page 30



 

 13 

The service has a target to complete safe and well checks in 75 percent of all  
high-risk households. Although the service is meeting this target, the classification by 
staff of what constitutes high risk is inconsistent. In the files we examined, staff had 
incorrectly classified a large number as high risk and therefore the accuracy of records 
on which the service bases its reporting of high risk is not clear. If the service 
improves its staff’s understanding of what constitutes high risk, this could not only 
potentially place the service in a position of far exceeding the national rate of safe and 
well checks, but could also provide it with extra capacity to clear its backlog, in 
circumstances where it already carries out a high number of checks. 

The service engages with the National Fire Chiefs Council’s prevention campaigns.  
It gives firefighters materials and communications plans to use in support of  
these campaigns. This included stations being involved in national Drowning 
Prevention Week. 

Staff are trained and confident in recognising vulnerability and making safeguarding 
referrals where necessary. There are pathways established for staff to refer people to 
appropriate organisations. 

The service runs an education centre called SkillZONE. This is a life skills village that 
teaches children, vulnerable adults and other target groups about how to keep 
themselves safe in a range of realistic scenarios. The service also provides education 
and training to schoolchildren across Gloucestershire, and partners with the county 
council and police. The service assesses its work with schools by asking pre and post 
visit questions and comparing the data, although we didn’t see the results of the 
evaluation during our inspection. 

Road safety 

The service’s strategy for improving road safety isn’t clear. There is no formal  
road safety partnership in Gloucestershire. However, the service does carry out  
some activities. For example, along with the police and crime commissioner, it  
jointly funds: 

• a safe and social driving co-ordinator post; and 

• several road safety programmes such as the ‘What if?’ programme that targets 
new drivers. 

The service has also been involved in drink driving prevention events and cycling 
safety events in Cheltenham.  

Page 31

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-fire-chiefs-council/


 

 14 

Protecting the public through fire regulation 

 

Inadequate 

 

All fire and rescue services should assess fire risks in buildings and, when necessary, 
require building owners to comply with fire safety legislation. Each service decides 
how many assessments it does each year. But it must have a locally determined,  
risk-based inspection programme for enforcing the legislation. 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Risk-based approach 

The service’s approach to protection is poor. It doesn’t have a protection strategy.  
And it doesn’t describe in any detail how it will manage its statutory responsibilities 
relating to fire protection within its IRMP. The service has a schedule of audits, but it 
doesn’t include detail, such as how the service would enforce compliance or engage 
with businesses. The schedule defines the number and types of known premises 
within its fire safety system: the last schedule dated 2018 included 22,317 premises. 
But this differs from the data provided to the Home Office of 16,674 known premises 
as at 31 March 2018. 

The service recently changed its definition of high-risk premises. It now prioritises 
premises where there is a risk people might be sleeping there. It also prioritises 
premises with a low compliance rating or no inspection history. In its 2018 work 
schedule, the service identified that it has a significant number of premises (1,076) 
that have the potential to be high risk due to a previous poor risk rating or no 
inspection history. The service committed to target them in 2018/2019 and across the 
three-year work schedule and aims to inspect all 1,076 potentially high-risk premises 

Causes of concern 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service does not have a clear protection 
strategy that describes how it will manage its statutory responsibilities using its 
risk-based inspection programme (RBIP) to identify the highest-risk premises.  
The service has difficulty in maintaining and interpreting its data and can’t  
carry out the number of audits of high-risk premises that it commits to as part of  
its RBIP. 

Recommendations 

By 30 April 2020, the service should: 

• agree a plan to ensure its risk-based inspection programme is sufficiently 
resourced and targets its highest-risk premises; and 

• ensure it conducts the number and frequency of high-risk premise audits that it 
sets out in its inspection programme. 

Page 32



 

 15 

in 2018/2019. The service calculated that it has a total capacity of 1,056 per year with 
its current staff, which is below the number of targeted inspections it plans to carry out. 

We are concerned that the service hasn’t allocated enough resources to  
protection activity. At the time of inspection, the service had four specialist fire 
protection inspectors. However, two of these were still in training, leaving just two 
people to carry out the high-risk inspections. 

Currently, operational firefighters don’t carry out any protection audits to ease the 
burden on specialist staff. The service told us that, as part of the work schedule, it has 
highlighted proposals to alter this. It hasn’t yet trained its staff to do this. 

Gloucestershire County Council has recently agreed additional funding to increase  
the resources assigned to protection activity. However, any improvements will be 
difficult due to the service having no defined policy and not enough staff at present. 
This means that the service needs to make sure its protection strategy is clear, with 
enough oversight to meet its statutory requirements. 

The service had difficulties explaining its protection data to us. The data it supplied to 
us was different from the data it supplied to the Home Office. The service needs to 
make sure it has confidence in data submissions, and it needs to improve its own 
understanding of its protection data. However, it is meeting most of its deadlines for 
responding to its statutory consultations for building regulations. Between 1 April 2018 
and 31 December 2018, the service received 380 building consultations and 
responded to 96.3 percent within the required timeframe. Managers consistently 
evaluate audits on a quarterly basis. 

The service isn't able to provide 24/7 out-of-hours capability for responding to 
complaints, concerns and dangerous fire safety conditions. This means that the 
service can’t immediately address dangerous issues outside office hours. 

Enforcement 

In the year to 31 March 2018, the service conducted 277 audits, down from 732 audits 
in the year to 31 March 2015. This equates to 1.7 audits per 100 known premises, 
which is lower than the England rate of 3.0. Of the 277 audits, 78.3 percent were 
satisfactory; this is higher than the England rate of 68.5 percent. In the same period, 
the service issued 43 informal notices, eight enforcement notices, four prohibition 
notices and carried out one successful prosecution. 

In the audits reviewed by inspectors, we found that the action taken by fire safety 
inspectors was appropriate and proportionate to the findings of the audit. Given the 
small numbers of protection staff, it is encouraging to see that they are using the full 
range of powers. 

Due to the team being very small, with only a few people having this specialist 
knowledge, any departures have the potential to significantly hinder the service’s 
ability to mount a prosecution. The service needs to take steps to mitigate this risk.  

Page 33

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/article-31-prohibition-notices/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/article-31-prohibition-notices/


 

 16 

The protection team and the county council trading standards team are located in the 
same building. Although we heard examples of the teams working together during the 
run-up to bonfire night, it was disappointing to find there are no formal processes for 
exchanging information. 

Working with others 

In the year to 31 December 2018, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service received 
2,704 requests for assistance to automatic fire alarms (AFAs). Of these, it did not 
attend 1,764 (65.2 percent). The service has a robust policy for challenging unwanted 
fire signals and only responds to AFAs when there are other reports of a fire as well as 
the alarm. It completes follow-up engagement with the businesses to address 
underlying problems. 

However, the service doesn’t proactively engage with businesses to promote  
fire safety and doesn’t highlight how businesses should comply with fire  
safety regulations. Its website provides links for businesses, giving them information 
and guidance on risk assessment and responsibilities under the Regulatory Form (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005. But it has no primary authority schemes or plans to create any. 

Responding to fires and other emergencies 

 

Requires improvement 

 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Managing assets and resources 

The service carried out a review of the location of its fire stations and fire engines  
in 2015. It used external consultants to model response times and potential changes 
to stations and crewing. Since then, the service hasn’t updated its response model 
and doesn’t have a response strategy. It hasn’t carried out any scenario planning to 
understand the number of fire engines it needs to meet its foreseeable risk, or if it 
faces multiple incidents. 

Areas for improvement 

• The service should ensure its response strategy provides the quickest 
response for the public. 

• The service should ensure it understands what it needs to do to adopt national 
operational guidance, including joint and national learning. It should then put in 
place a plan to do so. 

• The service should ensure it has an effective system for staff to use learning 
and debriefs to improve operational response and incident command. 

Page 34

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/primary-authority-scheme/


 

 17 

The service uses wholetime and on-call staff to supplement stations if they drop below 
minimum staffing levels. Control treats all wholetime stations and three on-call stations 
as essential stations and will always try to keep them staffed, moving resources  
as necessary. 

Fire control uses a mobilising system that works out the quickest fire engine to  
send to each emergency by using automatic vehicle location. But although the  
service sends the quickest fire engine on most occasions, this isn’t the case in 
Gloucester and Cheltenham. In these places, control will send wholetime fire engines 
before on-call ones, even if the system is showing the on-call engine as quicker.  
We acknowledge that control staff have the discretion to amend this if there is a 
significant time difference. But this doesn’t necessarily give the quickest response for 
the public every time. 

Staff are confident in using breathing apparatus and can explain emergency 
procedures. The service uses its on-call staff to support a wide variety of specialist 
roles such as crewing an aerial ladder platform, line rescue and swift water rescue. 
This is different from what we have seen in most services and is worthy of note as a 
different approach to the use of on-call. The integration across wholetime and on-call 
is generally good, with on-call firefighters riding on wholetime engines to cover  
staffing shortages. 

In the nine months to 31 December 2018, the service had average monthly fire engine 
availability ranging from 77 percent to 85 percent. More recent data received after the 
inspection shows that average availability increased to 88 percent in the year to 31 
March 2019. This includes a rate of 100 percent for wholetime fire engines and 86 
percent for on-call fire engines. 

Response 

The service hasn’t progressed work to adopt NOG quickly enough. Until recently, it 
was still working through its gap analysis. It recently established a team to progress 
this, but due to the delay, the service hasn’t implemented NOG and is behind other 
services. This could hinder how the service works alongside other fire and rescue 
services when responding to a cross-border incident. 

In the year to 31 December 2018, the service attended 8.2 incidents per 1,000 
population. This compares with the England rate of 10.4 over the same period. The 
Home Office collects and publishes data on response times by measuring the time 
between the call being made and the first fire engine arriving at the scene. This 
provides consistent data across all 45 services. However, services measure their own 
response times in a range of different ways. 

The service publicly consulted as part of its IRMP 2015–2018 and agreed a set of 
response standards for the first fire engine to reach risk category areas. The higher 
the risk category, the quicker the response the incident will receive. The service’s 
response standards are: 

• risk category 1 dwelling fires within 8 minutes, 80 percent of the time; 

• risk category 2 dwelling fires within 14 minutes, 80 percent of the time; and 

• risk category 3 dwelling fires within 14 minutes, 80 percent of the time. 

Page 35

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/wholetime-fire-station/


 

 18 

The service exceeded those targets between 1 April 2018 and 31 December 2018, 
achieving the response standards 81.5 percent, 95.4 percent and 91.6 percent of the 
time respectively. However, Home Office data shows that when comparing the service 
to other services classed as significantly rural, Gloucestershire has the longest 
response times to dwelling fires at 9 minutes 43 seconds and to primary fires at 11 
minutes 3 seconds. 

The service has a range of pre-determined attendance to different types of incidents 
and control has recently adopted the national incident type classifications. The service 
is also able to send an on-call engine with a crew of three to certain types of incident 
such as road traffic collisions and car fires. This means that control can send an 
engine when otherwise it would be unavailable due to not having enough staff. 

Staff are confident retrieving data, such as risk information and location data,  
from MDTs. However, staff told us that the service recently removed information that 
crews use to determine where the safest place is to cut crashed cars. It would be 
useful to include this information once more. The service installed this software as a 
trial in 2015 but it was discontinued in 2017 due to financial restraints. The service 
could reintroduce the software for all appliances if the funding were available. 

Certain on-call stations provide a first response to medical emergencies on behalf of 
the ambulance service. The service has continued with emergency medical response 
following an initial trial with wholetime staff. However, some staff have stopped 
providing this response due to an ongoing national industrial dispute. This doesn’t 
affect how they respond to fires and other emergencies. 

Command 

Control operators have the discretion to vary how the service responds based on 
information received from callers. Incidents we reviewed had the appropriate 
messages and dynamic risk assessments sent to control at appropriate intervals.  
But some managers aren’t sure of the service’s response strategy. For example, some 
middle managers told us that they aren’t sure whether they have to respond to 
incidents when the control room tells them about those incidents. This was raised with 
the service at the time of inspection and resolved shortly afterwards. 

The service has introduced the Safer Firefighter programme. This supports  
and strengthens core skills and has recently focused on incident command.  
However, while staff know the basic principles of incident command, some operational 
staff don’t fully understand operational discretion and the joint decision model. 

Keeping the public informed 

The service doesn’t keep the public routinely informed about incidents, despite being 
able to use the county council’s communications team. It has 24/7 support from the 
communications team for more notable incidents. Fire control staff use Twitter for 
prevention messages. 

The service’s work on telecare has better equipped its control staff to know about and 
manage vulnerabilities and safeguarding issues. Operational staff have had training in 
vulnerability, so they know how to identify people who are vulnerable and can make 
safeguarding referrals where necessary. 

Page 36

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/primary-fire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/operational-discretion/


 

 19 

The control room has correct procedures in place to manage incidents. Its command 
and control system provides prompt sheets for operators around specialist subjects. 
These include breathing apparatus emergencies and providing survival guidance to 
those trapped by fire. 

Evaluating operational performance 

While the service has a process for gathering operational learning, not all staff 
understand this. Most operational staff said they have taken part in a hot debrief and 
are confident in its approach. 

After all incidents attended by two or more fire engines, staff must record on an 
assurance form where tangible lessons have been learned. But most staff we spoke to 
hadn’t participated in this process. The service doesn’t monitor the number of 
incidents to make sure staff submit the corresponding number of forms. Its operational 
performance improvement group considers returns and manages trends and  
emerging issues. However, the service couldn’t show us what results this group had 
had or how it was dealing with arising issues. 

It was encouraging to see that the service submits information to national  
operational learning. For example, it submitted information following an incident with a 
liquid natural gas tanker where it reported problems in isolating the vehicle. 

The service’s process for dealing with complaints isn’t effective. The complaints  
we reviewed were recorded inconsistently. During our review, the service only  
had records for one out of the four complaints we asked to view. The service  
has recognised this and has recently adopted the county council’s process to  
improve consistency. 

Responding to national risks 

 

Requires improvement 

 

All fire and rescue services must be able to respond effectively to multi-agency and 
cross-border incidents. This means working with other fire and rescue services (known 
as intraoperability) and emergency services (known as interoperability). 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Areas for improvement 

• The service should ensure its firefighters have good access to relevant and  
up-to-date risk information. This should include cross-border risk information. 

• The service should make sure it runs a programme of service, cross-border 
and partner exercises, sharing the learning from these exercises. 

Page 37

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/hot-debriefs/


 

 20 

Preparedness 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has arrangements in place to access extra 
resources for incidents such as wide-scale floods or major accidents. Control room 
staff and officers know how to request national assets and how to update the national 
reporting tool. The service supported national requests for resources recently.  
It provided wildland firefighting teams in Manchester in 2018 and enhanced logistical 
support to the Cumbria floods in 2015. Control managers have recently taken part in 
training on marauding terrorist attacks with police control colleagues. This followed a 
local review within the county of the learning outcomes from the Manchester terrorist 
attack of 2017. 

The service’s chief fire officer (CFO) is responsible for the county council’s civil 
protection team. This team works in the same building as the protection team at HQ. 
This is an effective and joined-up approach. With police and fire control rooms also 
located together, staff believe the ability to exchange information face to face is easier. 

Working with other services 

The service borders five other English fire and rescue services and South Wales Fire 
and Rescue Service. It exchanges premises risk information with these neighbouring 
services up to ten kilometres from each border. However, due to staff resources  
not being available, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue staff can’t view neighbouring 
service risk information on their MDTs. The service is aware of this and is working on 
a solution. 

The service has recently reviewed its mutual aid arrangements. These allow 
neighbouring fire and rescue services to support each other at incidents. 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has reaffirmed that it will support requests 
for mutual aid from neighbouring services. This follows a period where previous senior 
managers hadn’t always allowed this to take place. 

The service doesn’t have a regular programme of exercises either within the county or 
with neighbouring fire and rescue services. Staff told us that they regularly respond 
with neighbouring fire and rescue services, but rarely carry out cross-border training. 
The staff survey we carried out as part of our inspection (see Annex A for more 
details) also confirmed this. Of the 105 firefighters and specialist support staff who 
responded to the survey, 77 percent disagreed that their service regularly 
trains/exercises with neighbouring services. 

Working with other agencies 

The service has experienced severe flooding in the past and has used  
national resources. It therefore has experience of managing large-scale national 
deployments into the county. 

While the service conducts exercises with local resilience partners, these are sporadic 
and there is no formal exercise programme. The service told us that the low number of 
exercises might be because the organisations don’t have enough staff or resources. 
There have been some large-scale exercises recently – including using a large car 
factory and a training centre with a high-rise training building – as well as control room 
training for responding to a marauding terrorist attack. 

Page 38



 

 21 

The police and fire service headquarters are both on the same blue light campus.  
The multi-agency tactical and strategic co-ordination centres are also on this site.  
The duty principal fire officer becomes the strategic lead for the county council if a 
strategic co-ordinating group (SCG) is called. If the officer needs further support, they 
can ask additional directors to attend depending on the necessary skills. 

As part of national arrangements for terrorism-related incidents, the service has 
specialist capability alongside Avon Fire and Rescue Service.

Page 39



 

 22 

Efficiency

Page 40



 

 23 

How efficient is the service at keeping people 

safe and secure? 

 

Requires improvement 

Summary 

An efficient fire and rescue service will manage its budget and spend money properly 

and appropriately. It will align its resources to its risk. It should try to keep costs down 

without compromising public safety. Future budgets should be based on robust and 

realistic assumptions. Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service’s overall efficiency 

requires improvement. 

The service needs to make better use of its resources. It has met its previous  
savings requirements, but it needs to have a clearer understanding of how it  
assigns its resources. It doesn’t allocate resources according to an assessment  
of risk. In some areas, such as protection, it has reduced staffing levels even though 
the risk hadn’t gone down. 

The service works with several partners to provide its services. It needs to regularly 
review these arrangements in detail to make sure it is getting the expected benefits.  
It has documented and tested its business continuity arrangements, but still needs  
to make them better. The control room is a good example of where testing has led  
to improvements. 

The service needs to make sure it has the skills and capacity to manage  
future changes. This is particularly the case for its financial plans and its relationship 
with the county council. It needs to make sure it makes the most of its future working 
arrangements with the county council. The service would benefit from building on  
its use of specialist functions such as those established with HR, procurement  
and finance.  

Page 41



 

 24 

Making best use of resources 

 

Requires improvement 

 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

How plans support objectives 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has a net annual budget of £16.3 million  
and has achieved budget savings of £3.7 million since 2013. The service has the 
lowest firefighter cost per head of population in England at £16.42 in the year to 31 
March 2018. This compares with the England rate of £22.38 over the same period. 
This is due to it having cut back office and protection services significantly, as well as 
the fact that it is predominantly an on-call service. The county council carries out 
medium-term financial planning. The service supports this with its own process, to 
help budget planning and mitigate risk to the county council. 

The service has been through a period of upheaval. The former CFO resigned 
suddenly in July 2018. Also, a number of internal audit investigations started following 
whistleblowing allegations, including some in relation to financial conduct. The service 
has published several audit reports via the county council and is working on others. 

The service doesn’t allocate resources according to the risk outlined within its IRMP. 
In some areas, it has reduced resources with no evidence that the risk in that area had 
gone down. For example, between 31 March 2011 and 31 December 2018, the 
number of dedicated and competent protection staff within the service fell from ten  
to two. While the service has met its saving targets, it hasn’t carried out a review to 
see if the reductions are in the appropriate areas. It wasn’t able to give us any 
assessment of the effect of these reductions. 

Prevention has undoubtedly been the focus for the service, and the IRMP is heavily 
weighted towards the prevention function. As highlighted earlier, this has been at the 
expense of protection.  

Areas for improvement 

• The service needs to show a clear rationale for the resources allocated 
between prevention, protection and response activities. This should be linked 
to risks and priorities set out in its integrated risk management plan. 

• The service should ensure it effectively monitors, reviews and evaluates the 
benefits and outcomes of any collaboration. 

Page 42

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/on-call/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/integrated-risk-management-plan-irmp/


 

 25 

Productivity and ways of working 

The service has reduced its support functions. Between 31 March 2010 and 31 March 
2018, the number of support staff fell from 79 to 40 full-time equivalents. The service 
is also operating with a number of temporary promotions across its management 
structure up to assistant chief officer. As at 31 March 2018, the service had 27 staff  
on temporary promotion, but more recent data received after the inspection shows  
this has increased to 53 as at 31 March 2019. Managers have been moving around 
the service and this has affected the service’s capability and capacity to make  
major changes. The service needs to make sure staff in important roles have the right 
capabilities and capacity to develop the service. The current lack of stability is 
negatively affecting managers’ confidence in making decisions. 

There aren’t enough processes to manage the distribution and priority of  
prevention work. The service uses on-call staff as community safety advisers to carry 
out safe and well visits. But it hasn’t evaluated whether paying on-call staff to carry out 
this work is providing value for money, or whether it is reaching the most vulnerable 
people in its community. Also, while wholetime crews have a target of 20 high-risk 
safe and well visits a month, to meet this target they aren’t necessarily carrying out 
visits to high-risk homes. 

We acknowledge that the service is using its workforce flexibly. For example, it uses 
its on-call staff to respond to high-line rescues and water rescues as well as to carry 
out safe and well visits. In the two main population centres of Cheltenham and 
Gloucester, one watch manager covers two stations. They will ride the fire engine at 
either, depending on crewing levels at each station. 

Collaboration 

The service has several collaborative partnerships in place. It shares: 

• a control room and headquarters building with Gloucestershire Police; 

• a joint private finance initiative (PFI) training centre with Avon Fire and Rescue 
Service and Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service; 

• telecare with Gloucestershire clinical commissioning group; and 

• concern for safety and co-responding cardiac arrest with South Western 
Ambulance Foundation Trust. 

For the last two organisations, the service carries out cost recovery for the services 
they provide. The service has done some early case studies and evaluated outcomes. 
We believe the service should carry out more regular, detailed reviews and evaluation. 
This will help it understand the benefits for the participating organisations and make 
sure collaborations are achieving the desired aims. 

The costs of the joint training centre with Avon Fire and Rescue Service and Devon 
and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service are met through a financing model over  
25 years. A recent remodelling exercise suggests an £808,000 deficit by the  
project end. Each service will need to increase its contributions to minimise the risk  
of this deficit arising. For Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, this means it  
will need to find another £200,000, which it currently plans to meet from county  
council reserves. 

Page 43

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/safe-and-well-visits/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/vulnerable-people/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/vulnerable-people/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/wholetime-firefighter
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/watch/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/reserves/


 

 26 

Continuity arrangements 

The service recognises the need to improve its business continuity arrangements and 
is in the process of updating its plans. It is doing this with the county council’s civil 
protection team, which manages business continuity for all the council. The new plans 
appear more managed and tested than previous ones. 

Fire control regularly tests its plans with an evacuation exercise carried out  
every quarter. We saw evidence of the service using learning from previous exercises 
to develop the plan. For example, control operators now use a 4G tablet to manage 
mobilisation as they travel from Gloucester to Stroud. The service has changed 
network provider to make sure this device has good enough coverage, because of 
lessons learned from a previous exercise. 

The service has developed its own safe and well software. This relies on a single 
person to maintain and develop the software. The service needs to mitigate any risks 
from this single point of failure. 

Making the fire and rescue service affordable now and in the future 

 

Requires improvement 

 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Improving value for money 

Several internal audit reports have indicated shortfalls in financial and procurement 
procedures as well as in human resources recruitment and selection processes.  
In June 2019, when the service initially published these reports, it gave assurance that 
it was taking (and had already taken) immediate action to correct any major problems 
and pursuing follow-up actions. 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has been able to meet savings requirements 
through underspends and reductions in support roles. The county council had required 
the service to reduce its costs by 1 percent (£160,000) in this financial year, but it has 
since removed this requirement. 

As is common with county council services, the service doesn’t hold any reserves  
of its own apart from those identified for PFI and fire service pensions. If it needs  
more funding, the service must submit a business case to access county council 
reserves for any new areas of work. This is a new process for the service. It has 
established a financial monitoring group that meets monthly to review expenditure and 

Areas for improvement 

• The service should ensure it has sufficient capability and capacity to manage 
future change. 

Page 44

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/fire-control/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/mobilisation/


 

 27 

plan future budget forecasting. The service is working with the county council to 
improve how it manages principal non-pay costs such as contract renegotiation and 
joint procurement. 

The service has its own fleet strategy, but it doesn’t link to the current IRMP in relation 
to future requirements. The service told us that it will review its fleet strategy when it 
develops its new IRMP. The county council includes fire service buildings (apart from 
PFI sites) within its asset management plan. However, there are no fire-specific 
actions within the plan to assess future changes within Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service estates. 

Innovation 

The service has decided to upgrade its MDTs and is currently in the process of rolling 
these out across the service. It has taken the decision to move to 4G-enabled MDTs 
to improve the data-transfer capability and reduce the costs of the Airwave network. 
The service told us that the new MDTs will be compliant with the emergency services 
network when it is rolled out. 

Staff use tablets for carrying out their safe and well visits. They can use them to make 
referrals to other agencies and update records. Staff told us that the service could 
increase the functionality of these tablets, especially in using the data to produce 
performance and analytical information. 

Future investment and working with others 

The service has several collaborations in place. The police and crime commissioner 
has submitted a business case to the Home Office to take over governance of the 
service from the county council. The Home Secretary has postponed this decision until 
after the next police and crime commissioner elections in May 2020. Progress in some 
areas of joint working with the police force has slowed as a result. But meetings 
between the assistant chief fire officer and the assistant chief constable with 
responsibility for collaboration continue to take place to work on collaboration. 

The service generates approximately £500,000 a year – on a cost-recovery basis – 
from its partnerships through telecare and cardiac response. It has no current plans to 
generate further income. 

It is common for county council-governed fire and rescue services to be able to draw 
on wider county council resources such as HR, IT and procurement. This hasn’t been 
the case in Gloucestershire. The service has its own support functions, such as 
operational assurance and risk information, which in some areas are under-resourced 
and not providing the required level of service. At the time of our inspection, the new 
CFO has agreed with the county council a new integration plan to align the service 
more closely to Gloucestershire County Council and use its support functions.

Page 45

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/mobile-data-terminal/


 

 28 

People

Page 46



 

 29 

How well does the service look after its 

people? 

 

Requires improvement 

Summary 

A fire and rescue service that looks after its people should be able to provide an 
effective service to its community. It should offer a range of services to make its 
communities safer. This will include developing and maintaining a workforce that is 
professional, resilient, skilled, flexible and diverse. The service’s leaders should be 
positive role models, and this should be reflected in the behaviour of the workforce. 
Overall, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service requires improvement at looking 
after its people. 

The service isn’t good enough at promoting the right values and culture. It has allowed 
a culture of bullying and harassment to develop. It needs to introduce its new values 
and service structure as a matter of priority. And it needs to make sure that all 
managers demonstrate these values through their behaviour. 

Occupational health support is generally good, though not all staff and managers are 
aware of how to access it. The service needs to improve its process for testing 
equipment, to make sure staff have access to equipment that they know is safe to use. 

The service needs to develop its workforce planning to create stability and reduce the 
need for temporary promotions. It needs to improve the support it gives its newly 
promoted managers. It should review its decision to reduce the length of its training 
course for new firefighters. The service needs to make sure specialist staff have 
enough time to maintain their required skills to the right standard. It should also make 
sure it properly trains firefighters who have additional medical response duties. 

The service is trying to become more open to challenge, but it will take time to  
re-establish the trust necessary for staff to feel confident in the procedures. It needs to 
make sure it has an effective grievance procedure that staff feel confident using. 

The service has had considerable success in raising its number of female firefighters 
and it now has the highest proportion nationally. It should assess its approach and 
share the learning with the wider fire and rescue community. 

Page 47



 

 30 

The service should develop a promotions policy to underpin its ‘recruit for values  
and train for skills’ approach. This will help staff understand how they can develop  
and progress. It should bring in an open and fair process for developing people  
with talent. 

Promoting the right values and culture 

 

Inadequate 

 

 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Workforce wellbeing  

Staff generally see the provision of welfare support from occupational health  
(OH) as positive. They gave us examples of receiving support from OH over issues 
such as bereavement and mental health. However, managers and staff have a  
varied knowledge of how to access wellbeing services. Some were well informed,  
and others said they have never received training and didn’t know how to access 
services. The service’s intranet has minimal information for staff on how to access 
wellbeing support. 

The service is introducing diffusing as a process for post-traumatic incident support.  
It is training some of its staff and managers. However, staff are unclear as to how this 
should work in practice. 

Areas for improvement 

• The service should ensure its programme for testing and maintaining 
equipment has suitable managerial oversight. 

Causes of concern 

Gloucestershire FRS values are tarnished and are not credible with staff.  
The service needs to introduce its new values and service structure to allow staff 
and managers to understand the priorities for the future. 

Recommendations 

• The service should publish its new values and vision for the service to 
all staff. 

• The pathway for change the service chooses should be clearly documented for 
the organisation to follow. 

• Managers need to be seen to demonstrate the new values through their 
behaviours to rebuild trust. 

Page 48



 

 31 

Health and safety 

The service has a health and safety policy in place and has an electronic system for 
accident reporting. The service told us that capacity problems make it difficult for it to 
monitor and report on trends. The quality of risk assessments at stations was varied. 
The process for tracking accident reports through to actions and improvements isn’t 
always effective or clear. 

The service has recently audited its programme of equipment testing after it realised 
that some equipment was past its due date for testing. Staff told us that the service 
doesn’t centrally monitor the testing of specialist rope and water rescue equipment. 
This has caused problems between the central equipment team and local  
specialist crews. The service should ensure that managers properly oversee its 
programme for testing and maintaining equipment. 

Culture and values 

The service has undergone a period of change over the last 11 months with the 
difficult resignation of the former CFO and the appointment of a replacement. It is 
important to highlight that we heard from staff across the organisation who had 
differing experiences around the two management structures. 

The service introduced a values policy following a cultural review in 2016, under  
the former CFO. Staff told us these values were tarnished and not fit for purpose  
now, because of the difficult circumstances surrounding the CFO’s resignation.  
Staff described disappointing and sometimes distressing examples of previous 
bullying and harassment by senior leaders. This included leaders humiliating staff in 
front of peers and threatening demotion for temporary promoted managers if they 
didn’t carry out certain leaders’ wishes. 

Our staff survey reflected these concerns. Of the 139 respondents to our staff survey, 
41 percent reported feeling bullied or harassed and 32 percent feeling discriminated 
against at work in the last 12 months. This had resulted in staff not trusting managers 
and there being a culture of ‘them and us’. While most staff are positive that the 
service is making a fresh start, they are still cautious due to concerns that the 
management team doesn’t have the capacity to lead cultural change. The service will 
be aligning with the county council’s values in future. 

The new CFO faces the challenge of making sure staff understand his vision and 
plans for the service, and making sure the whole organisation embraces the values 
and culture. In doing so, there need to be visible plans to show how these changes will 
be brought about and these need to be communicated throughout the service. 

The service is still responding to cardiac emergencies using wholetime stations 
following a national trial. This has been a contentious issue for those carrying out  
the role, and staff told us that this had brought them into conflict with colleagues.  
The service should make sure it manages any division between staff who carry out 
this role and those who don’t. 

Page 49

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/wholetime-fire-station/


 

 32 

Getting the right people with the right skills 

 

Requires improvement 

 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Workforce planning 

The service is poor at workforce planning and hasn’t taken account of the skills and 
capabilities required to meet its IRMP. We saw this in the protection team with its low 
level of staffing, and several areas where the service relies on one member of staff. 
While the service has monthly workforce planning meetings, these need to be a main 
part of future planning for the service. We recognise these meetings are a relatively 
new function. The reliance on temporary promotions, often for several years, indicates 
a lack of previous planning. As at 31 December 2018, the longest-serving temporary 
promotion is around three and half years. A variety of staff informed us that due to the 
number and frequency of changes of their uniformed line managers, making progress 
in a department can be difficult as each new manager must understand and learn  
new information. 

The service has a policy of ‘recruit for values and train for skills’. This means that the 
service will look primarily at what values a person has for a role. If successful, the 
service will train the person in the skills they need to carry out the role. We saw some 
positive examples of the service developing staff and newly promoted managers and 
moving them from different conditions of service. But we also found that some 
managers had received little support or training to meet the required skills after they 
had been promoted. 

The service recently reduced the length of its training course for new firefighters. 
Some staff told us this reduction has made them feel less confident going on to fire 
stations as they didn’t feel as prepared as they thought they would. The service hasn’t 
carried out effective evaluation of the change. It should consider this. 

The service relies on its on-call staff to crew several specialist vehicles or functions, 
such as rope rescue. While the service gives these crews additional training hours, it 
doesn’t record competencies for specialist roles. The use of on-call staff in a variety of 
roles allows the service to send them to a wider range of incidents, which can help 
with staff retention. The service needs to assure itself that, given the limited time 

Areas for improvement 

• The service should ensure it has oversight and assurance that local specialist 
training is recorded and managed. 

• The service should ensure it has development support for all newly  
promoted managers. 

Page 50

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/integrated-risk-management-plan-irmp/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/on-call/


 

 33 

available to on-call staff, they can maintain core competencies as well as their 
additional specialist competencies to a required standard. 

The service manages its staffing effectively on a day-to-day basis via an electronic 
management system. Fire control makes sure enough cover is always available to 
staff the five wholetime/mixed stations and the three main identified on-call stations.  
It does this by deploying staff from other stations or calling staff in on overtime. 

Learning and improvement 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has a training recording system and an  
e-learning management system to provide online training. While the majority of 
training records for core competencies are complete, assurance of those records 
varies due to some staff recording their own evidence, particularly from incidents.  
The service doesn’t currently include control staff and support staff on these systems, 
but has told them that work is underway to change this. 

The service has introduced the Safer Firefighter programme to ensure that all 
operational staff receive the same training in core competencies. Staff are positive 
about this programme, which ensures they maintain their essential skills. 

Staff informed us that they have received limited training for the additional medical 
emergency response with the ambulance service; in some cases only limited training 
for cardiac incidents. While the continuation of this duty is positive, the service should 
make sure staff are appropriately trained and confident to carry out the role. 

The service moves new wholetime staff around stations in pairs during their early 
careers to gain experience. Staff feel that this created difficulty in some areas, as they 
had to go back over areas of their development with new managers. 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service introduced its People First strategy to focus 
on appraisals, personal development and mentoring. The policy is comprehensive  
and supportive. Unfortunately, after launching it, the service didn't have the capacity 
and capability to follow it up. The policy has since lost credibility with staff. 

Ensuring fairness and promoting diversity 

 

Requires improvement 

 

Areas for improvement 

• The service needs to understand and address the impact positive action is 
having on staff. 

• The service should assure itself that it has effective grievance procedures.  
It should identify and implement ways to improve staff confidence in the 
grievance process. 

Page 51

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/fire-control/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/wholetime-firefighter


 

 34 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Seeking and acting on staff feedback 

Many staff told us that the service hadn’t previously been open to challenge.  
Staff across all levels gave examples of concerns they have raised that the service 
hasn’t dealt with. They also gave examples of the service reprimanding them for 
raising concerns, particularly from individuals from underrepresented groups.  
Of the 139 respondents to our staff survey, 55.4 percent disagreed that they felt  
able to challenge ideas without any detriment as to how the service would treat  
them afterwards. This has left the service with a legacy that will take time to change. 
Recently the service has re-introduced its staff suggestion scheme. While it is too 
soon for us to review the process, it appears well thought out. 

The service receives very few formal grievances. Staff told us that they aren’t 
confident about using the grievance procedure due to fears of a lack of confidentiality 
and possible negative consequences. While the service offers welfare support and 
uses county council managers to provide impartiality for grievances, the way the 
service records grievances is disjointed. The service could manage processes  
more efficiently. 

Diversity 

The service has made considerable progress in recruiting female firefighters into both 
on-call and wholetime positions. As of 31 March 2018, 15.4 percent of firefighters 
were female (10.6 percent of retained, 21.6 percent of wholetime). This is, by quite a 
margin, the biggest proportion of female firefighters in England. The service has tried 
to remove potential barriers while maintaining the necessary standards. For example, 
it allows female candidates to carry out further upper-body strengthening if they  
fail this requirement on a selection day; it then retests them prior to starting training.  
In addition, the service uses existing female staff as role models on selection days. 

In the last round of recruitment, the service recruited 53 percent female firefighters. 
Some staff questioned the processes used to achieve this success, as they felt  
that the service had lowered the physical fitness standards for female applicants.  
The service has reassured staff that the tests are suitable and fair. However, it needs 
to communicate this more openly to existing staff to provide transparency and 
challenge suspicions. 

The service hadn’t evaluated its most recent recruitment processes at the time  
of inspection. We would encourage the service to assess its success and share the 
learning across the sector. 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service recognises that it hasn’t been as successful 
at attracting black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) staff. As at 31 March 2018, 2.8 
percent of firefighters were BAME; this compares with 4.6 percent of the population. 
The service should use its new equality and diversity forum to better understand how it 
can engage with these communities to achieve the same success with recruitment 
and retention of BAME staff. 

Page 52

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/retained/


 

 35 

Managing performance and developing leaders 

 

Requires improvement 

 

We set out our detailed findings below. These are the basis for our judgment of the 
service’s performance in this area. 

Managing performance 

The service replaced appraisals with an individual performance plan (IPP) as part of 
the introduction of its People First strategy. This received a mixed response from staff 
we spoke to, with some preferring the new approach and others feeling it was only for 
people who wanted promotion. While some staff had been set goals that link to the 
service plan, others were unclear how this would work and were unaware of any 
performance objectives. Without oversight and management of the IPP process, the 
service won’t be able to use the information to inform effective workforce planning.  
As at 31 March 2018, the service had low levels of IPP completion. The service should 
review the approach to People First for any future amendments. 

The service will need to ensure that it makes appropriate plans for developing  
new managers in the future. Support staff feel that opportunities for progression  
are infrequent. They told us that the frequent management changes have made things 
much less clear, with managers not always understanding the roles and individual 
capabilities of staff within their teams. 

The service has changed its promotion process in the past 12 months and has 
broadened the involvement of staff. It uses county council staff to provide  
independent scrutiny. Staff feel that the process had improved, and that these 
changes send out a positive message about fairness and inclusion. 

The service has a ‘recruit for values and train for skills’ policy. The service doesn’t 
have a promotions policy. When we asked how staff would know the areas they would 
need to prepare for, the service wasn’t clear on how staff could understand the 
process and development pathways. It needs to address this.  

Areas for improvement 

• The service should ensure it has an effective system in place to manage staff 
development, performance and productivity. 

• The service should put in place an open and fair process to identify, develop 
and support high-potential staff and aspiring leaders. 

Page 53



 

 36 

Developing leaders 

The service doesn’t currently have a process for identifying and selecting staff with 
high potential to be senior leaders. It acknowledges that it still needs to improve 
development pathways. With several senior positions being filled on a temporary 
basis, the service should ensure it plans these development pathways and can 
support them when required. 

Management development courses are available, and some managers are 
undertaking training through modern apprenticeships. However, the service hasn’t 
offered this opportunity to all the staff we spoke to. The service is using leadership 
training from the police and county council to develop staff.

Page 54



 

 37 

Annex A – About the data 

Data in this report is from a range of sources, including: 

• Home Office; 

• Office for National Statistics (ONS); 

• Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA); 

• our public perception survey; 

• our inspection fieldwork; and 

• data we collected directly from all 45 fire and rescue services (FRSs) in England. 

Where we collected data directly from FRSs, we took reasonable steps to agree the 
design of the data collection with services and with other interested parties, such as 
the Home Office. This was primarily through our Technical Advisory Group, which 
brings together representatives from the fire sector and the Home Office to support the 
inspection’s design and development, including data collection. 

We give services several opportunities to validate the data we collect to make sure the 
evidence presented is accurate. For instance, we asked all services to: 

• check the data they submitted to us via an online application; 

• check the final data used in each service report; and 

• correct any errors they identified. 

We set out the source of Service in Numbers data below. 

Methodology 

Use of data in the reports and to form judgments 

The data we cite in this report and use to form our judgments is the information that 
was available at the time of inspection. Due to the nature of data collection, there are 
often gaps between the timeframe the data covers, when it was collected, and when it 
becomes available to use. 

If more recent data became available after inspection, showing a different trend or 
context, we have referred to this in the report. However, it was not used to form  
our judgments. 

In a small number of cases, data available at the time of the inspection was later found 
to be incorrect. For example, a service might have identified an error in its original 
data return. When this is the case, we have corrected the data and used the more 
reliable data in the report. 

Page 55



 

 38 

Population 

For all uses of population as a denominator in our calculations, unless otherwise 
noted, we use ONS mid-2017 population estimates. At the time of inspection this was 
the most recent data available. 

2018 survey of public perception of the fire and rescue service 

We commissioned BMG to survey attitudes towards FRSs in June and July 2018.  
This consisted of 17,976 surveys across 44 local FRS areas. This survey didn’t 
include the Isles of Scilly, due to its small population. Most interviews were conducted 
online, with online research panels. 

However, a minority of the interviews (757) were conducted face-to-face with trained 
interviewers in respondents’ homes. A small number of respondents were also 
interviewed online via postal invitations to the survey. These face-to-face interviews 
were specifically targeted at groups traditionally under-represented on online panels, 
and so ensure that survey respondents are as representative as possible of the  
total adult population of England. The sampling method used isn’t a statistical  
random sample. The sample size in each service area was small, varying between 
400 and 446 individuals. So any results provided are only an indication of satisfaction 
rather than an absolute. 

Survey findings are available on BMG’s website. 

Staff survey 

We conducted a staff survey open to all members of FRS workforces across England. 
We received 3,083 responses between 8 March and 9 August 2019 from across the 
15 Tranche 3 services. 

We view the staff survey as an important tool in understanding the views of staff who 
we may not have spoken to, for a variety of reasons, during fieldwork. 

However, you should consider several points when interpreting the findings from the 
staff survey. 

The results are not representative of the opinions and attitudes of a service’s  
whole workforce. The survey was self-selecting, and the response rate ranged from 7 
percent to 40 percent of a service’s workforce. So any findings should be considered 
alongside the service’s overall response rate, which is cited in the report. 

To protect respondents’ anonymity and allow completion on shared devices, it was not 
possible to limit responses to one per person. So it is possible that a single person 
could have completed the survey more than once. 

Each service was provided with a unique access code to try to make sure that only 
those currently working in a service could complete the survey. However, it is possible 
that the survey and access code could have been shared and completed by people 
other than its intended respondents.  

Page 56

http://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland/mid2017/ukmidyearestimates2017finalversion.xls
http://www.bmgresearch.co.uk/hmicfrs-public-perceptions-of-fire-and-rescue-services-in-england-2018-report/


 

 39 

We have provided percentages when presenting the staff survey findings throughout 
the report. When a service has a low number of responses (less than 100), these 
figures should be treated with additional caution. Percentages may sum to more than 
100 percent due to rounding. 

Due to the limitations set out above, the results from the staff survey should only be 
used to provide an indicative measure of service performance. 

Service in numbers 

A dash in this graphic indicates that a service couldn’t give data to us or the  
Home Office. 

Perceived effectiveness of service 

We took this data from the following question of the 2018 survey of public perceptions 
of the FRS: 

How confident are you, if at all, that the fire and rescue service in your local 

area provides an effective service overall? 

The figure provided is a sum of respondents who stated they were either ‘very 
confident’ or ‘fairly confident’. Respondents could have also stated ‘not very confident’, 
‘not at all confident’ or ‘don’t know’. The percentage of ‘don’t know’ responses varied 
between services (ranging from 5 percent to 14 percent). 

Due to its small residential population, we didn’t include the Isles of Scilly in  
the survey. 

Incidents attended per 1,000 population 

We took this data from the Home Office fire statistics, ‘Incidents attended by fire and 
rescue services in England, by incident type and fire and rescue authority’ for the 
period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2019. 

Please consider the following points when interpreting outcomes from this data. 

• There are seven worksheets in this file. The ‘FIRE0102’ worksheet shows the 
number of incidents attended by type of incident and fire and rescue authority 
(FRA) for each financial year. The ‘FIRE0102 Quarterly’ worksheet shows the 
number of incidents attended by type of incident and FRA for each quarter.  
The worksheet ‘Data’ provides the raw data for the two main data tables  
(from 2009/10). The ‘Incidents chart - front page’, ‘Chart 1’ and ‘Chart 2’ 
worksheets provide the data for the corresponding charts in the statistical 
commentary. The ‘FRS geographical categories’ worksheet shows how FRAs  
are categorised. 

• Fire data, covering all incidents that FRSs attend, is collected by the Incident 
Recording System (IRS). For several reasons some records take longer than 
others for services to upload to the IRS. Totals are constantly being amended (by 
relatively small numbers). 

• We took data for Service in Numbers from the August 2019 incident publication. 
So, figures may not directly match more recent publications due to data updates. 

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables#incidents-attended
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables#incidents-attended


 

 40 

Home fire safety checks per 1,000 population 

We took this data from the Home Office fire statistics, ‘Home Fire Safety Checks 
carried out by fire and rescue services and partners, by fire and rescue authority’ for 
the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. 

Each FRS figure is based on the number of checks it carried out. It doesn’t include 
checks carried out by partners. 

Please consider the following points when interpreting outcomes from this data. 

• Dorset FRS and Wiltshire FRS merged to form Dorset and Wiltshire FRS on 1  
April 2016. All data for Dorset and Wiltshire FRSs before 1 April 2016 is excluded 
from this report. 

• Figures for ‘Fire Risk Checks carried out by Elderly (65+)’, ‘Fire Risk Checks 
carried out by Disabled’ and ‘Number of Fire Risk Checks carried out by Partners’ 
don’t include imputed figures because a lot of services can’t supply these figures. 

• The checks included in a home fire safety check can vary between services.  
You should consider this when making direct comparisons between services. 

• Home fire safety checks may also be referred to as home fire risk checks or safe 
and well visits by services. 

• After inspection, East Sussex FRS resubmitted data on its total number of home 
fire safety checks and the number of checks targeted at the elderly and disabled in 
the year to 31 March 2018. The latest data changes the percentage of checks that 
were targeted at the elderly (from 54.1 percent to 54.9 percent) and disabled (from 
24.7 percent to 25.4 percent) in England. However, as noted above, in all reports 
we have used the original figures that were available at the time of inspection. 

Fire safety audits per 100 known premises 

Fire protection refers to FRSs’ statutory role in ensuring public safety in the wider  
built environment. It involves auditing and, where necessary, enforcing regulatory 
compliance, primarily but not exclusively in respect of the provisions of the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (FSO). The number of safety audits in Service in 
Numbers refers to the number of audits services carried out in known premises. 
According to the Home Office’s definition, “premises known to FRAs are the FRA’s 
knowledge, as far as possible, of all relevant premises; for the enforcing authority to 
establish a risk profile for premises in its area. These refer to all premises except 
single private dwellings”. 

We took this from the Home Office fire statistics, ‘Fire safety audits carried out by fire 
and rescue services, by fire and rescue authority’ for the period from 1 April 2017 to 
31 March 2018. 

Please consider the following points when interpreting outcomes from this data. 

• Berkshire FRS didn’t provide figures for premises known between 2014/15  
and 2017/18. 

• Dorset FRS and Wiltshire FRS merged to form Dorset and Wiltshire FRS on 1  
April 2016. All data for Dorset and Wiltshire FRSs before 1 April 2016 is excluded 
from this report. 

Page 58

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748419/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1201-oct18.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748419/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1201-oct18.xlsx
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/contents/made
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748816/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1202-oct18.xlsx
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748816/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1202-oct18.xlsx


 

 41 

• Several FRAs report ‘Premises known to FRAs’ as estimates based on  
historical data. 

Firefighter cost per person per year 

We took the data used to calculate firefighter cost per person per year from the annual 
financial data returns that individual FRSs complete and submit to CIPFA, and ONS 
mid-2017 population estimates. 

You should consider this data alongside the proportion of firefighters who are 
wholetime and on-call. 

Number of firefighters per 1,000 population, five-year change in workforce and 

percentage of wholetime firefighters 

We took this data from the Home Office fire statistics, ‘Total staff numbers (full-time 
equivalent) by role and by fire and rescue authority’ as at 31 March 2018. 

Table 1102a: Total staff numbers (FTE) by role and fire authority – Wholetime 
Firefighters and table 1102b: Total staff numbers (FTE) by role and fire authority – 
Retained Duty System are used to produce the total number of firefighters. 

Please consider the following points when interpreting outcomes from this data. 

• We calculate these figures using full-time equivalent (FTE) numbers. FTE is  
a metric that describes a workload unit. One FTE is equivalent to one  
full-time worker. But one FTE may also be made up of two or more part-time 
workers whose calculated hours equal that of a full-time worker. This differs from 
headcount, which is the actual number of the working population regardless if 
employees work full or part-time. 

• Some totals may not aggregate due to rounding. 

• Dorset FRS and Wiltshire FRS merged to form Dorset and Wiltshire FRS on 1  
April 2016. All data for Dorset and Wiltshire FRSs before 1 April 2016 is excluded 
from this report. 

Percentage of female firefighters and black, Asian and minority ethnic  

(BAME) firefighters 

We took this data from the Home Office fire statistics, ‘Staff headcount by gender, fire 
and rescue authority and role’ and ‘Staff headcount by ethnicity, fire and rescue 
authority and role’ as at 31 March 2018. 

Please consider the following points when interpreting outcomes from this data. 

• We calculate BAME residential population data from ONS 2011 census data.  
This figure is calculated by dividing the BAME residential population by the  
total population. 

• We calculate female residential population data from ONS mid-2017 population 
estimates. 

• The percentage of BAME firefighters does not include those who opted not to 
disclose their ethnic origin. There are large variations between services in the 
number of firefighters who did not state their ethnic origin. 

Page 59

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/732387/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1401-aug2018.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/732387/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1401-aug2018.xlsx
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748879/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1102-oct2018.xlsx
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748879/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1102-oct2018.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748881/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1103-oct2018.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748881/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1103-oct2018.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748882/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1104-oct2018.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748882/fire-statistics-data-tables-fire1104-oct2018.xlsx


 

 42 

• Dorset FRS and Wiltshire FRS merged to form Dorset and Wiltshire FRS on 1  
April 2016. All data for Dorset and Wiltshire FRSs before 1 April 2016 is excluded 
from this report. 

Page 60



 

 43 

Annex B – Fire and rescue authority 

governance 

These are the different models of fire and rescue authority (FRA) governance  
in England. Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service is a unitary authority. 

Metropolitan FRA 

The FRA covers a metropolitan (large urban) area. Each is governed by locally 
elected councillors appointed from the consitutent councils in that area. 

Combined FRA 

The FRA covers more than one local authority area. Each is governed by locally 
elected councillors appointed from the constituent councils in that area. 

County FRA 

Some county councils are defined as FRAs, with responsibility for fire and rescue 
service provision in their area. 

Unitary authorities 

These combine the usually separate council powers and functions for  
non-metropolitan counties and non-metropolitan districts. In such counties, a separate 
fire authority runs the fire services. This is made up of councillors from the county 
council and unitary councils. 

London 

Day-to-day control of London’s fire and rescue service is the responsibility of the 
London fire commissioner, accountable to the Mayor. A Greater London Authority 
committee and the Deputy Mayor for Fire scrutinise the commissioner’s work. The 
Mayor may arrange for the Deputy Mayor to exercise his fire and rescue functions. 

Mayoral Combined Authority 

Only in Greater Manchester. The Combined Authority is responsible for fire  
and rescue functions but with those functions exercised by the elected Mayor.  
A fire and rescue committee supports the Mayor in exercising non-strategic  
fire and rescue functions. This committee is made up of members from the  
constituent councils. 

Page 61



 

 44 

Police, fire and crime commissioner FRA 

The police, fire and rescue commissioner is solely responsible for the service 
provision of fire & rescue and police functions. 

Isles of Scilly 

The Council of the Isles of Scilly is the FRA for the Isles of Scilly.

Page 62



 

 

 

December 2019 | © HMICFRS 2019 | ISBN: 978-1-78655-925-8 

www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs 

Page 63

http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET PANEL REPORT

GLOUCESTERSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE (GFRS) REVIEW 

1. Membership: 

Cllr Dave Norman (Chair)
Cllr Kevin Cromwell 
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Nigel Robbins
Cllr Lesley Williams 

  
2. Officer Support:

Wayne Bowcock - Chief Fire Officer (GFRS)
Jon McGinty – Commissioning Director (GCC)
Mandy Quayle - Director of People (GCC) 
Theresa Mortimer - Head of Audit Risk Assurance (GCC) 
Jo Moore – Senior Democratic Services Adviser (GCC)

3. Background:

Following a letter of complaint to Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) in June 
2018 and high profile resignation of the Chief Fire Officer, an extensive investigation 
of the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) was undertaken by the 
Internal Audit Team at the County Council. 

Addressing concerns about the sale of a GFRS owned vehicle and Chief Fire 
Officer’s (CFO) involvement in the sale, plus separate concerns relating to staffing 
issues, the investigation included a review of polices, practices, systems and 
processes. It was agreed the Internal Audit Team (IA) at the County Council would 
investigate the sale of the GFRS vehicle whilst the Human Resources Team (HR) 
would consider the staffing concerns. Shortly after commencing the investigation, 
numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom of Information (FOI) requests 
were received, identifying additional issues relating to the governance arrangements 
and general processes and procedures at GFRS.

In October 2018, the GCC Internal Audit Team made several recommendations to 
the council’s Audit and Governance Committee. 

The recommendations aimed to: - 

a) Rebuild confidence and trust within GFRS; 

b) Concentrate on the governance areas identified during the investigation or 
notified as part of the whistleblowing allegations, for which it was proposed 
the Internal Audit Team undertake a series of extensive compliance audits 
across GFRS;  

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



2

c) Undertake a series of ‘pure compliance’ audits across the Council. The audits 
to review compliance with the Council’s key corporate policies (financial and 
non financial); 

d) Ensure GFRS was made aware of the Council’s Contract Standing Orders, 
Financial Regulations and Accounting Instructions from the provision of 
relevant (including financial management) training. Consideration to be given 
to introducing a countywide training programme, including periodic refresher 
training; and 

e) Test the adequacy of the 2018/19 Directors and Heads of Service 
Governance Assurance Statements, (which, in relation to GFRS, may 
previously have given false assurance). This activity to be incorporated into 
Quarter 1 of the 2019/20 Internal Audit Plan arrangements. 

4. Scrutiny Task and Finish Group

Acknowledging escalating concerns emerging from the investigation into GFRS, lead 
members from the GCC Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee agreed to 
set up a scrutiny task and finish group. The decision was ratified by the committee in 
September 2018. 

To support the extensive work being undertake by GCC and GFRS, it was agreed 
the task and finish group would focus specifically on the culture of Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service. The task group was supported by Jon McGinty as 
Managing Director/ Commissioning Director and Mandy Quayle Head of Human 
Resources. 

The membership of the task group included; Cllrs Iain Dobie, Kate Haigh, Jeremy 
Hilton (Chair), Stephen Hirst, Shaun Parsons, John Payne and Will Windsor Clive. 

The ambitions of the task group included:

a) To explore the current culture within the Fire and Rescue Service (to 
understand its behaviours, attitudes, values and beliefs) and make 
recommendations to improve it; 

b) To ensure that GFRS was fair and transparent in its relationships with 
others and in its working practices (including procurement);  

c) To consider how the service could be more robustly scrutinized; 

Page 66



3

d) To propose ways in which GFRS might move forward as a County Council 
fire and rescue service, working in collaboration with other council and 
blue light services; 

e) To consider any issues relevant to the work of the task group arising from 
the report of the IA Team and presented to Audit and Governance 
Committee regarding the sale of a fire service vehicle.

The task group met with various personnel, including:

 Acting Chief Fire Officer
 Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
 Commissioning Director
 Head of Human Resources
 Consultant on GFRS Culture Review
 Leader of Council
 Chief Executive
 Trade Unions
 Internal Audit

In addition, Cllr Dave Norman, as Cabinet Member with responsibilities for public 
protection undertook a series of visits to Fire and Rescue Service Stations across 
the county in order to improve visibility and ensure clarity in the processes for raising 
concerns. Individual members of the task group accompanied the Cabinet Member 
on some of the visits to gain a better understanding of the issues.

5. Cabinet response to the findings of the task group review

In April 2019, the Chairman of the Task and Finish Group, Cllr Jeremy Hilton, 
presented a detailed report to Cabinet, including a series of recommendations:

Included within the recommendations, it was proposed: 

a) To explore whether the Fire and Rescue Service could adopt a more 
integrated model of back office support service, such as HR, IT, Property, 
Communications and Finance. In particular, whether a stronger business 
partner model might provide the service with greater access to skills and 
expertise to help the service manage its change programme. It was felt the 
HR Team at the County Council possessed the necessary expertise to play a 
leading role in culture change within GFRS;  

b) To redefine the role of the Chief Fire Officer within the County Council, (to 
reflect the positive integration of services);  

Page 67



4

c) For the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service to adopt the County 
Council’s values in order to reflect that the service formed part of the County 
Council, under a shared culture. 

d) To request that, under the auspices of the current review, members consider 
the most appropriate way of strengthening scrutiny of the Fire and Rescue 
Service. 

Within the report, the task group highlighted the current position of the GFRS 
service, the progress being made and the work being carried out to ensure that the 
Fire and Rescue Service was best equipped to meet its changing role. It was 
acknowledged that to undertake a cultural shift of such magnitude would take time, 
need to be handled carefully and supported with the right support. 

The task group suggested Cllr Dave Norman, as Cabinet Member responsible for 
Public Protection, establish a Cabinet Panel, (with cross party membership), to 
ensure oversight of the change programme within the Fire and Rescue Service. 

The task group reinforced the need that the Internal Audit compliance reviews 
continue, with regular update reports to the Audit and Governance Committee.

6. Cabinet Panel 

With Cllr Norman, (Cabinet Member for Public Protection), as Chairman, a Cabinet 
Panel was established in June 2019. The Panel agreed to meet at regular intervals 
over a defined time period. 

The purpose of the Panel was to provide support to the Cabinet Member, (following 
on from the work undertaken by the GFRS Scrutiny Task and Finish Group), and 
working within the operating principles set out by the Panel Operating Principles 
included in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

The Panel supported the following ambitions: -  

a) To explore the culture of the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, (to 
gain an understanding of behaviours, attitudes, values and beliefs), and to 
make recommendations for improvement;

b) To clarify the role of the Chief Fire Officer and senior officer roles: 

c) To ensure the working practices (including procurement) and the 
relationships within GFRS and between GFRS and other organisations were 
fair and transparent; 

d) To consider ways in which GFRS could be more robustly scrutinised,

Page 68



5

e) To propose ways in which GFRS could move forward as a County Council 
Fire and Rescue Service, (working in collaboration with other council and 
blue light services); 

f) To consider issues emerging from the recommendations made by the GFRS 
Task Group and any outcomes arising from the reports presented by the 
GCC Audit and Governance Committee.

The first meeting of the Panel was held in June 2019, with the most recent meeting 
being held at Fire Headquarters in January 2020. The meeting included a tour of the 
premises and in-depth discussions with staff members. During the meeting with 
GFRS staff members, it became apparent that, overall, the general feeling was 
positive. Despite the distressing period experienced by GFRS under the leadership 
of the previous Chief Fire Officer, (and immediately following his departure), 
comments from staff were optimistic, reflecting tremendous loyalty and indicating a 
confidence and trust in the new Chief Fire Officer and in the progress being made 
under the new structure. Overall, morale was strong. 

Acknowledging the significant amount of work yet to be undertaken, staff exhibited 
an enthusiasm and a willingness to work with GFRS and GCC and to restore the 
pride and identity of the Gloucestershire Fire Service.  

GFRS staff suggested a desire to remain part of GCC, with no support, (among the 
focus group who met with the Panel on 8 January 2020), for the Fire Service 
governance to transfer to the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office. The transition 
from working with GFRS values, (referred to as “tarnished”), to GCC Core Values 
had been well received during a series of workshops that had been held. 

Whilst the input and support from the GCC HR and Audit Teams was appreciated 
and commended, questions were raised about the roles and responsibilities of some 
senior officer posts at GCC. 

Comments arising from the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
meeting on 28 January 2020 will be presented, (as part of the scrutiny reporting 
process), at the GCC Full Council meeting on 25 March 2020. 

Key Observations 

7. Audit Committee Expectations

From its investigation, the Internal Audit Team at Gloucestershire County Council 
made a number of GFRS-specific and council-wide/cross-cutting recommendations 
to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to determine the level of risk. 

Page 69



6

These reviews/audits are outlined in an Action Plan initially presented to the Audit 
and Governance Committee on 12 October 2018. Progress updates against each 
review/audit included within the Action Plan and each detailed audit report was 
provided to the Audit and Governance Committee with the final suite of audit reports 
presented on 11th October 2019. 

In total, there were 18 internal audit reviews of which 11 provided a limited 
assurance audit opinion on the control environment and resulted in 124 improvement 
actions, all of which were accepted by management. The overarching outcomes 
related to lack of knowledge/understanding and compliance with GCC policies and 
procedures and clearly defined localised polices underpinning GFRS specific terms 
and conditions of service, which enabled local interpretation and implementation of 
practices which may not be perceived as demonstrating the required ethical 
standards of public office holders, (Nolan principles).

To enable internal audit to follow up the actions taken to address the 
recommendations made, it has been agreed that Internal Audit will place reliance, 
where possible, on the GFRS tracker system that is being used by the GFRS 
Programme Board to monitor the implementation of the Internal Audit 
recommendations. The tracker system was demonstrated to the satisfaction of the 
Panel at its meeting in January 2020

Part of the Internal Audit verification process will be undertaken through audit- team 
member attendance at the periodic GFRS Programme Board meetings. Following 
attendance at these meetings and reviewing the evidence provided, the Programme 
Board and/or Internal Audit may decide to undertake further testing of the relevant 
areas in order to obtain the necessary assurances. 

All outcomes of the follow up reviews will be presented to future meetings of the 
Audit and Governance Committee in the normal manner.

8. Restructure of GFRS following appointment of CFO

Following his arrival, the CFO carried out analysis of the funding, budget 
management, compliance levels and required functions of GFRS. This was 
supported by clear audit reports and findings agreed with and actions developed by 
the CFO.

The subsequent HMICFRS inspection has provided further information, against clear 
criteria, relating to the effectiveness, efficiency and people within GFRS. Improved 
integration, as a commitment of the GFRS Senior Leadership Team under the new 
structure, encourages making effective use of core GCC support areas, including 
Finance, HR and IT. Further, robust arrangements for programme management, 
commercial and legal support will be established as part of GCC core services where 
required and where central capacity allows.

Page 70

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s56171/GFRS%20Action%20Plan%20Progress%20Report%20as%20at%20October%202019.pdf


7

The Councils 2020/21 draft budget takes account of the additional costs required to 
restructure GFRS, proposing the addition of 17 posts to the service to address the 
broad areas mentioned here.  In year transformation reserve funding has been made 
available to fill critical vacancies arising before the start of the new financial year.

To support improved integration and professionalism, some of the 17 posts will be 
funded from the GFRS budget, but represented by members of the core support 
teams e.g. Project Manager and Procurement Specialist.  This will assist in the 
delivery of the function and resilience elements of GFRS, whilst ensuring ongoing 
compliance with GCC policies and procedures and the development of staff.

Implementation of the new structure is currently underway, following a ‘go-live’ 
launch date of 6 January 2020. Existing staff have begun transitioning into the new 
roles and recruitment for the new posts is underway. Subject to notice periods of 
successful candidates, the Service aims to have the new structure fully implemented 
by the end of March 2020. 

Extensive staff engagement has taken place to support the restructure with team 
focus groups, questionnaires and review periods for the proposed structure.  Over 70 
recommendations were received from staff which resulted in over 30 changes to the 
final structure.  All recommendations were responded to, giving the rationale for the 
reasons to be either accepted or not.  The GCC staff survey shows an increasing 
level of engagement and increasingly positive responses.  Whilst there is significant 
improvement required, the direction of travel is very positive.

9. Establishment of the Programme Board (Aims/Objectives)

Following the HMICFRS fieldwork week and receipt of further audit report findings, 
HMICFRS feedback was recorded and an action-plan produced to help manage the 
improvement process. 

A Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Improvement Programme Board was 
established to coordinate and assure progress in areas for improvement highlighted 
by the HMICFRS inspection team and GCC audit reports. The membership of the 
board includes; Lead Cabinet Member for Public Protection and Libraries, Cllr Dave 
Norman, CFO Wayne Bowcock, ACFO Mark Preece, ACFO Mark Astle, Darren 
Skinner (Planning and Coordination Manager), Jon McGinty (Commissioning 
Director) and Matt Amey (Strategic Support Officer). 

All HMICFRS and Audit outcomes and recommendations have been themed and 
department heads have been briefed on the actions that need to be completed. The 
board meet regularly to monitor and assure progress.

Page 71



8

10.  HMICFRS (report and progress made)

GFRS fully supports the aims of the inspectorate and welcomes the 
recommendations as part of its improvement plan. The report is reflective of the 
Service six months ago. However, the initial ‘hot-debrief’ delivered by the inspection 
team enabled a progressive action-plan to be developed that has already delivered 
improvement in most areas identified in the full report. 

The letter received following the re-inspection, in November 2019, noted that suitable 
governance arrangements were in place and that HMICFRS had been ‘encouraged’ 
by the changes GFRS had already made. The GFRS Programme Board will now 
review the action-plan to reflect the full inspection report and continue developing in 
the areas identified for improvement.

11.  Moving Forward – Period of Consolidation/next IRMP

The clear focus within GFRS over the coming 12-24 months is for the GFRS 
Improvement Programme Board to work through the action plan, ensuring that the 
audit and HMICFRS findings are addressed in a professional and sustainable way, 
which will develop skill and competence alongside process and procedure.  

Supervisory and middle management development are key to ensuring that the 
strategic vision and values are continually role modelled and communicated and all 
staff are supported to understand the direction of travel and work within a well-
established values framework to clear organisational objectives. This is a cultural 
change which will take patience and time to embed.  

During 2020, the next integrated risk management plan will be developed.  The data 
analysis to support this will be closely aligned to the latest National Fire Chiefs 
Council learning and from other Fire and Rescue Services who have been inspected 
by HMICFRS and are deemed to have performed well in relation to the development 
to their IRMP.  This will set the future objectives of GFRS and will be linked to and 
supportive of the GCC strategic plans and vision 2050 documents as well as 
strategies relating to public health, social care and policing.  

Combined with the improvement programme board outcomes, a clear strategy and 
objectives with a fresh and forward looking vision will be in place by the summer of 
2021.

The improvement and integration journey for GFRS has begun. A period of 
consolidation will be required, led by the Chief Fire Officer and Strategic Leadership 
Team of GFRS, but equally supported by senior officers and members from wider 
GCC. 

Page 72



9

The service is ready to meet the challenges arising from the audit reports and from 
HMICFRS. This will need stability and governance provided by GCC as the Fire 
Authority. 

The professional relationship established by the Lead Cabinet Member and GFRS is 
open to scrutiny. A commitment to full collaborative working within GCC will deliver 
positive outcomes for Gloucestershire residents and staff at GFRS. 

I wish to place on record my thanks to the Panel and for the support provided by staff 
from the GCC DSU Team and from GFRS, whose involvement through the life of the 
Panel has been both constructive and invaluable. 

Cllr Dave Norman - Cabinet Member: Public Protection (GCC)
28 January 2020

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities
Scrutiny Committee – 
Report from Commissioning Director: Adults and DASS

_________________________________________________

Gloucestershire Care & Health NHS Foundation Trust - Update

On 1 October 2019 Gloucestershire Care and Health NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) 
was formed following the merger of Gloucestershire Care Services (Physical) and 
2Gether Trust (Mental Health).  This new provider of community health and care 
services is commissioned by the Clinical Commissioning Group, via the Integrated 
Commissioning Team. Within the contract there are jointly commissioned services 
that are provided on behalf of Adult and Children Social Care, Education, Public 
Health and Health.

There is significant work underway to align contract management, monitoring 
methodologies and meetings for a consistent and cohesive approach into the new 
contracting period, to achieve a standardisation of approach and design principles as 
services develop, evolve or cease.

Alongside this there is a senior working group to review, revise where necessary, a 
large volume of existing Key Performance Indicators to ensure the range, frequency 
and volume of national and local KPI, quality indicators, service intelligence and 
reporting requirements are fit for purpose at operational, service and strategic levels.

GHC has combined its Quality Committees and associated governance structures.  
GHC now also has a combined safeguarding offer and work to align Serious Incident 
approach will be complete by the end of January. 

Enhanced Independence Offer

Negotiations are ongoing with both providers – Order of St John (OSJ) for bed-based 
and Gloucestershire HealthCare (GHC) for community home first/reablement  – with 
a particular focus on cost and affordability, to ensure that both pathways are good 
value for money. Finance officers from Gloucestershire council are liaising with their 
relevant counterparts.

Specifications have been agreed by both provider organisations and the project team 
with only minor issues to be resolved. The complexity is that both the pathways sit in 
a multifaceted system; so we have had to ensure that pathways meet up with those 
coming out of the hospitals, and going into the community.

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



The project team has sought relevant advice on HR delivery models to ensure the 
workers in reablement are protected and managed appropriately on an ongoing 
basis. The GHC team are currently drafting an operational plan and risk assessment 
with support from the project team.

Work on the therapeutic offer is ongoing, whilst GHC provide community therapy into 
reablement, OSJ has declined to provide therapy from within the contract – therefore 
there will have to be a relevant community offer or bespoke arrangements. This will 
be dependent upon the finalised location of the bed based sites which is being driven 
by a mixture of ensuring viability and meeting the local needs of people in those 
beds.

We are still looking at a first quarter go live date for the first bed based service with 
phased implementation, whilst the community pathway should go live late summer.

Carers Support 

Support for carers was a particular focus during the Breaking the Cycle week at 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital in November. People worked closely together to 
ensure as many carers as possible registered with the Carers Emergency Scheme, 
and staff are continuing to promote the scheme throughout the winter period. Of the 
734 Carers who registered with the carers hub in quarter three, 91 carers have been 
registered or reviewed on level 1 and 159 carers on level 2 of the Carers Emergency 
scheme.  There were 21 activations of the Level 2 Carers emergency scheme this 
quarter.

The Carers Partnership Board continues to thrive. The Board will be co-chaired by 
three carers- one adult carer, one young adult carer and one parent carer. It is a very 
vibrant and energised board which is currently agreeing it’s priorities for 2020/21.

The Carers Training schedule is rapidly developing and includes the piloting of 
Wellbeing Sessions on topics such as ‘Getting a good nights sleep’ and ‘compassion 
fatigue’. 93 individual carers accessed the programme during October, November 
and December. 36 carers attended the more traditional Positive Caring Programme, 
which will be reviewed and refreshed in 2020. .

For more information, contact Debbie Clark, Lead Commissioner
Debbie.clark6@nhs.net  0300 421 1642 / 07880 055954

Proud to Care (PTC) Gloucestershire

The representation of Job Centre Plus (JCP) on the PTC Strategy & Development 
Group has enabled PTC Glos and JCP to collaborate on several key projects 

Page 76



supporting job seekers to enter the care sector. Attending JCP team meetings has 
enabled job coaches to have a better understanding of the opportunities available in 
adult social care in the county, leading to an increased sign posting from job coaches 
to PTC Glos. 

In collaboration with JCP PTC has recently coordinated Mentoring Circles, 
comprising of 4 x 2 hour sessions where Adult Social Care employers act as mentors 
to the job seekers and ambassadors for the sector. The mentoring circles cover; 
building awareness of the sector, tailoring CV’s for ASC roles, understanding Values 
Based Recruitment, developing interviewing skills, practice interviews with 
employers and goal setting. So far 2 mentoring circles have been held in Gloucester. 
In the second Gloucester mentoring circle 57% of attendees progressed to a work 
experience, training opportunity or job role related to Adult Social Care. Following 
their success two more are planned in January for Cheltenham and Cinderford. 

In addition to mentoring circles PTC Glos has collaborated with JCP and Gloucester 
College to run a care specific Sector Based Work Academy (SBWA) in Gloucester. 
The SBWA is a 4 week programme where individuals learn more about the care 
sector, completing some elements of mandatory training along with employability 
qualifications. At the end of the program attendees are guaranteed an interview with 
Adult Social Care employers. 75% of the SBWA participants progressed to the next 
step in Adult Social Care employers recruitment process or were offered a role with 
an employer. As a result of the success of the Gloucester SBWA, a Cheltenham 
SBWA will be held in February. 

For more information, contact Debbie Clark, Lead Commissioner
Debbie.clark6@nhs.net  0300 421 1642 / 07880 055954

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Director of Public Health

28thJanuary 2020

__________________________________________________________________

Population Health Management Development Programme

In August 2019 Gloucestershire Integrated Care System was successful in its 
application to participate in the NHS England funded 20 week Population Health 
Management (PHM*) development programme working with Optum Ltd (an 
international analytics company). The aim of this programme is to support integrated 
care systems to progress PHM further and faster through intensive analytical input 
and organisational development support activities such as 1:1 coaching and action 
learning sets. 

The focus of the programme is on place-based working with Cheltenham Integrated 
Locality Partnership (consisting of Cheltenham Central, Peripheral and St Pauls 
Primary Care Networks) currently participating in the programme.  

The programme supports PCN’s to identify population cohorts experiencing poor or 
unwarranted variation in outcomes or service use and then design and deliver an 
intervention to improve these outcomes (within the 20 week timeframe). While the 
PCN’s are still finalising their cohorts of interest the current areas identified by PCN’s 
are:

 St Pauls PCN: People that are documented as housebound, but attend outpatient 
appointments. This cohort have high incidence of multi-morbidity and lifestyle 
related health conditions and depression.

 Peripheral PCN: Falls prevention in people living with moderate frailty
 Central PCN: Delivering personalised care to high frequency users of primary 

and community care services

As joint lead for the PHM programme in Gloucestershire the Director of Public Health 
is closely involved in the delivery of the programme and ensuring it complements 
local priorities and partnerships.  Additional funding has been secured from NHS E to 
support the attendance and involvement of the Voluntary and Community Sector 
(VCS) in the programme, ensuring that local assets are harnessed and partnership 
working promoted. The programme is also helping to progress existing work-streams 
including linking health and social care data for local use by analysts and 
commissioners.

Alongside work with PCN’s there have been a number of system level work-streams 
bringing together finance and analyst leads from across the system. Towards the 
end of the programme the learning from the various work-streams will be collated 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



and help inform how we continue to embed data and evidence based care design in 
Gloucestershire.

* Population Health Management (PHM) is the use of data driven insights to improve 
care and outcomes, as well as make the most effective use of resources and the 
workforce. It can be delivered at an individual, place or system level. PHM consist of 
three main areas, Infrastructure, Intelligence and Interventions.

Establishment of Multi Provider Pseudo Framework relating to Community and 
Accommodation Based Support (CABS) Services for services for 
Homelessness and People in Vulnerable Circumstances 

Following a successful complaint tender process the above Framework has been 
established to enable the Council to continue to work with  local public sector 
partners to develop services and support pathways that:

 Maximise and sustain independent living
 Intervene early to prevent entrenched homelessness
 Improve the effectiveness of our services in helping people move from crisis 

towards independence
 Provide opportunities to develop appropriate support and resilience within 

communities

A number of call of contracts have been awarded by the council  to ensure continued 
provision of Community and Accommodation Based Support services at the end of 
the current contractual arrangements (i.e. 1st April 2020).  The council is positively 
working with successful providers to undertake activity to mobilise these contracts.

Staff influenza vaccination campaign

The annual staff influenza vaccination campaign was managed by members of the 
Public Health Commissioning team, with the aim to vaccinate at least 1800 
employees including both Gloucestershire County and Gloucester City Councils. 
Badham Pharmacy was the vaccination provider for this occupational health service, 
and flu vaccinations were available at Shire Hall, other district county offices and 
Badham Pharmacies throughout October and November. After running twenty-six 
clinics, 1833 staff received the flu vaccination. One of the main strengths from the 
campaign was the internal communication channel used to promote the vaccination. 
More awareness, especially through personal stories, has enabled more staff to 
receive the vaccination. On-site clinics, accessibility to information and booking 
appointments have provided more ease and convenience to staff than visiting their 
GP to receive the flu vaccination.

Suicide prevention work

An additional £50,000 investment in suicide prevention work was agreed at full 
Council in February 2019.  The money was used by the Prevention, Wellbeing and 
Communities Hub to support and expand the suicide prevention work already 
underway in the county.  

Page 80



Suicide is the leading cause of death in men aged under 50.  The national suicide 
rate 2016-18 was 9.6 deaths per 100,000 people, this compares to 10.4 per 100,000 
in Gloucestershire (statistically similar).  

Local surveillance tells us:

 Men are more at risk than women, in the UK 3 in every 4 suicides occur in 
men, where as in Gloucestershire as many as 5 in every 6 suicides occur in 
men.

 By district, the highest rates occur in Gloucester, FoD then Cheltenham 
followed by Cotswold, Stroud and Tewksbury.

 Nationally people from deprived neighbourhoods, BAME people, people who 
identify themselves as LGBT+ and people who misuse drugs and alcohol are 
at higher risk.

In Gloucestershire we are lucky to have the well-established Gloucestershire Suicide 
Prevention Partnership (GSPP) which currently has 251 members representing 112 
organisations.  Within this we also have a smaller Suicide Prevention Steering 
Group.  These groups are responsible for setting and delivering our Suicide 
Prevention Strategy which can be viewed here 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2918/gloucestershire_suicide_prevention_
strategy_2015_final_rev_280716-64216.pdf .  This year we will be updating our 
suicide audit, strategy and action plan.

Over the 5 years of the current strategy we have delivered the following:

 Training:
o ASIST training (suicide first aid) for all professionals and members of the 

community who are likely to be in contact with people at risk of suicide.  
o PABBS (timely support for people bereaved or affected by suicide) for 

those in the county that may support those bereaved by suicide.
 Suicide prevention in Primary Care:

o We have appointed a GP to work with practices to improve the information 
and training they have to identify people at risk of suicide and support 
them appropriately (started in Sept 18 for ½ day per week).

 Engaging ‘non-traditional’ partners:
o We have developed relationships with local Job Centres to offer training 

and information to their staff who may work with people at risk of suicide.
o We have made links with the construction industry (initially through Kier 

and Glos College) and have run one out of three planned events to get 
people talking about mental wellbeing, break down stigma and provide 
information.

o A representative from the Forestry Commission attended our last 
Frequently Used Locations meeting and we spoke about opportunities for 
training wardens and putting signs for Samaritans or similar in key places.

 Communications sub-group:
o We work closely with our Comms team to raise awareness of the 

importance of sensitive media reporting of suicide to reduce risk to those 
who are vulnerable, balanced with the need to tackle stigma.

 Rapid response to suicide clusters.

Page 81

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2918/gloucestershire_suicide_prevention_strategy_2015_final_rev_280716-64216.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2918/gloucestershire_suicide_prevention_strategy_2015_final_rev_280716-64216.pdf


Additional 2019/20 activity

The following outlines how we have spent, and continue to spend, the additional 
£50,000 amendment funding.

Created a Tackling Mental Health Stigma Hub in partnership with 
Treasureseekers, with an additional focus on preventing suicide

 In 2018/19 we applied for a grant from Time to Change, a national charity tackling 
mental health stigma, to launch a Gloucestershire funded hub.  We were 
unsuccessful but in the process had built a great proposal in partnership with 
Treasureseekers.  This money enabled us to launch this work and also expand it 
to include a greater focus on suicide prevention.

 The Hub has developed ‘Glos Talks’, a campaign with three key asks:

o Share your story
o Take the free 20 minute Zero Suicide Alliance Training
o Become a Glos Talks volunteer

 The Glos Talks selfie frame has been touring events in the county such as Pride 
and even Council Cabinet!  We have been encouraging individuals to take a 
picture of themselves with the caption ‘I am talking mental health, I am fighting 
stigma’ and post it on their own social media, tagging Glos Talks (or post directly 
onto the Glos Talks page).

 In addition the Hub has been featured on BBC 
radio Gloucestershire, shared by local social 
media influencers, developed a pocket size 
‘where to find help’ resource to aid initiating 
conversations and signpost, partnered with 24 
local employers and counting, and is currently 
featured on the crowd-facing advertising board 
in the county treasure, Gloucestershire Rugby 
Kingsholm Stadium.

 Launched our Free Zero Suicide Alliance 
20 Minute Training offer and supported 
other paid-for advertising

Page 82



 The Zero Suicide Alliance have created a 20 minutes e-learning interactive tool 
which anyone and everyone is encouraged to do so they have the basic tools to 
identify someone in distress and intervene to save a life.

 We want everyone in Gloucestershire to be armed with this training and to 
promote it we developed a scheme where anyone in Gloucestershire who 
completes the training can claim a free hot drink and snack from their local 
community café, thus also supporting community connectedness.  12 cafes 
across Gloucestershire are taking part in the scheme and so far over 700 people 
have completed the training since it launched in September!

 If you haven’t already, visit http://bit.ly/zsa-training to take the training and receive 
instructions on how to support your local community café by claiming your free 
drink and snack!

 Our story was also featured on Gloucestershire Live:
 https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/whats-on/whats-on-news/cafes-across-

gloucestershire-offering-free-3411933.
 Our team are conducting a brief evaluation of the impact this training has had.
 We have also invested in targeted advertising via social media and at 

Gloucestershire Quays.

Employed a Commissioning Officer for 1 day per week for two years to provide 
additional dedicated resource within the team

 This post has established the Zero Suicide Alliance offer in addition to organising 
events such as for World Suicide Prevention Day (10th September 2019), World 
Mental Health Day (10th October 2019) and Blue Monday (20th January 2020) 
and organising other advertising and promotional work with more planned for 
2020/21.

Sustaining the impact

The commissioning officer time will enable us to continue to promote the Zero 
Suicide Alliance training at key dates alongside other promotional activity.  Funding 
for the Glos Talks Hub will continue until June 2020, the model has been developed 
to include recruiting volunteers, supported by a multi-agency steering group, so that 
the impact can continue to be sustained long beyond when the funding expires.  

The Integrated Care System (ICS) also has an opportunity to submit proposals to 
NHS England to receive additional funding for suicide prevention for the next three 
years under the national Suicide Prevention Transformation Fund. If successful, the 
additional funding will enable us to continue this vital work.

The Council will also shortly be starting work on the next Suicide Audit working 
alongside our partners on the Suicide Prevention Steering Group. The audit will 
explore trends in suicide numbers and rates within the county, and risk factors; and 
will help inform the refresh of the County’s Suicide Prevention strategy. 

Page 83

http://bit.ly/zsa-training
https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/whats-on/whats-on-news/cafes-across-gloucestershire-offering-free-3411933
https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/whats-on/whats-on-news/cafes-across-gloucestershire-offering-free-3411933


ACEs Strategy Update January 2020

We wanted to give you a further update on the progress that has been made in 
implementing the seven objectives of Gloucestershire’s ACEs Strategy since it was 
launched at the ‘More than ACEs’ Conference in November 2018.  This progress has 
been overseen by ACEs Panel Chair, Assistant Chief Constable Julian Moss.  Julian 
moved on to another constabulary at the end of December and has been succeeded 
as Chair by Paul Stephenson, Chief Executive of Cheltenham Borough Homes.  Paul 
will be supported by Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health, who will act as Vice Chair 
and formal link with the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Objective 1- Communications Campaign

Communications are critical to the success of the ACEs Strategy and this objective is 
being led by the Action on ACEs core communications team, made up of panel 
advisors, ACEs specialists and communications support. Over the past 18 months 
the team has developed a strong brand: there is a track record of successful events 
(conference 2018, ‘Resilience’ screenings, and Ambassador Events); a growing 
social media presence; a high impact website and repository for resources; a suite of 
marketing materials (strategy, post cards, event kit) and an approach and identity for 
growing the Ambassador programme.  Funding has been secured for ongoing 
communications support and the priority over the next 12 months is ongoing tactical 
delivery with maintenance and promotion of the digital presence and social media 
channels; promotion and delivery of the June 2020 Action on ACEs Conference 
‘Moving from ACEs to Resilience’ (to be opened by Pete Bungard) and development 
of the Ambassador programme.  

The creator of viral change, and author of several books, Dr Leandro Hererro, came 
to deliver a workshop to key members of the ACEs Panel in September 2019.  As a 
result of this workshop and a local evaluation of our approach the ACEs Panel has 
sought to clarify the key behaviours we need to model in order to see the culture 
change we are seeking.  The behaviours are illustrated below.  The links between 
these behaviours and the GCC values are apparent.   

Page 84



Objective 2 – Training

This objective is being led by Dr Imelda Bennett, Designated Doctor for Children 
Safeguarding, from Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).  It 
includes the development of a skills and knowledge framework, ACEs Awareness 
training packages and a suite of tools and resources to get everyone talking about 
ACEs and resilience. Gloucestershire Constabulary have been delivering ACE 
awareness sessions following requests from settings across the county, including 
schools, Early Help, Educational Psychologists and community partners. Recent 
request have included Speech and Language teams and senior leaders at the new 
Gloucestershire Health and Care Trust. Efforts to embed ACEs into workforce 
development have included an ACEs masterclass at the GCC Social Work 
Academy.  An e-learning course (funded by Gloucestershire County Council Early 
Years Service) has been developed and will be launched at the end of January.  It is 
suitable for everyone working in health, mental health, education, police, local 
government, or with children and young people and also useful for communities and 
organisations who want to know more about how traumatic experiences can affect 
individuals and communities.  
For ACEs training enquiries please contact actionaces@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Objective 3 – Partnership work with Communities and Organisations

This objective is currently being led by Paul Stephenson, Chief Executive of 
Cheltenham Borough Homes and supported by the communities sub group.  
Kingsholm ACE’s pilot held their first ACEs community event at the Roots Café 
which resulted in over 40 conversations with a mixture of residents, agency partners 
and visitors to Kingsholm. From these conversations they developed their community 
mapping which they were able to build on at the Kingsholm community event on 1st 
August. Further community wellbeing events are being planned for January 2020 
and the ACE’s toolkit is being used by the local Kingsholm PCSO’s.  

Cheltenham Borough Homes (CBH) Family Investment Officers have continued to 
work with families in the St Paul's community to identify their adverse childhood 
experiences and build their resilience through the five ways to wellbeing. CBH have 
worked with the communities and established partnerships with a number of schools 
serving the St Pauls community.  They have been shortlisted in the ‘#strongfamilies’ 
category of the No Child Left Behind Awards:   

 https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/nclbawards .

The Door Youth Project in Stroud is leading a locality pilot. 

The ACEs Education Sub Group, led by Kevin Day, Headteacher at Belmont School 
has organised for ACEs to be on the agenda of the Gloucestershire Primary, 
Secondary and Special Schools Associations Conference and Exhibition taking 
place on the 27th March 2020 (Rise Up: Empowering Positive Mental Health).  A 
representative from each school in the county will be invited.  

Page 85

mailto:actionaces@gloucestershire.gob.uk
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/nclbawards%20.%0DThe
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/nclbawards%20.%0DThe


Objective 4 – Information and Resources

Access to resources and information is a key part of our awareness raising activities. 
The Action on ACEs website acts as a hub for local and global ACEs resources. This 
includes videos, links to expert research, support networks and the creation of a 
Gloucestershire community asset map.  To date, there have been 1482 views on the 
map.  To add an organisation to the map, please get in touch.  A second ACEs 
awareness survey ran for a month at the end of November 2019 and results will be 
taken to the next Panel meeting in January 2020.

Objective 5 – Distribution of ACEs

Our understanding of the distribution and prevalence of ACEs in Gloucestershire is 
increasing daily as more and more organisations and communities start to use ACES 
in their work to support to improve outcomes for children, young people and families. 

Objective 6 – Policies, Strategies and Contracts

We are hearing many stories of how an understanding of ACEs is already being built 
into organisational policies, strategies and contracts; thus giving people a common 
language to talk about adversity and resilience. Over the past few months 
Gloucestershire Constabulary has been working with the Nelson Trust towards 
becoming a trauma – informed organisation. They are switching the lens away from 
focusing on 'what is wrong with you', to understanding 'what has happened or is 
happening to you'.  The timeframe for the pilot is two years for the initial focus and 
there is ongoing evaluation.  It is hoped that this will become business as usual for 
the Constabulary.  

We previously spoke about the toolkits that Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for 
Integrated Children and Families Commissioning at Gloucestershire County 
Council, has developed to help support her commissioned providers have a 
conversation around ACEs and resilience. To date, the toolkits have been piloted by 
over 30 organisations.  An evaluation will be completed in early 2020 and based on 
the evaluation’s findings refined toolkits will be rolled out in April.

Objective 7- Evaluation 

This objective is being led by Dr. Tanya Richardson, Consultant in Public Health. An 
evaluation framework has been developed that will capture the stories that come 
from viral change, alongside ‘fit for purpose’ quantitative metrics to help us 
demonstrate the impact we are having. There is now a page on our website 
https://www.actionaces.org/stories/submissions/ where people can share a personal 
or professional experience of ACEs and resilience, along with insights around a 
change of approach, new ways of working or creating new cultures.  The evaluation 
of the first year of the ACEs Strategy is underway and will help inform work in 2020 
and beyond.  

Page 86

https://www.actionaces.org/
https://www.actionaces.org/community-assets/
https://www.actionaces.org/stories/submissions/


Partnership for ACEs Research, Development and Impact (PARDI)

A partnership group has been established with other stakeholders who are 
embedding the ACEs agenda including South Gloucestershire Council, North 
Somerset Council, Bristol City Council, Public Health England and UWE Bristol. The 
partnership aim is to share learning on ACEs, explore opportunities of evaluation and 
the development of tools and resources. 

National Case studies 

Action on ACEs Gloucestershire, Operation Mamushi and Great Expectations & 
Aston Project were all featured in the latest Public Health England policy document 
(July 2019) called CAPRICORN  reducing offending and re-offending in children and 
young people. 

Action on ACEs Gloucestershire also featured in the College of Policing Public 
Health Approaches to Policing Discussion Paper .

A case study on Action on ACEs will be included in a forthcoming LGA Publication.

Resilience Screenings

Over 1000 people attended the resilience screenings that were held around the 
county between November 2018 and July 2019.  An evaluation report is available 
here.

Rural car ownership

Following the presentation of the latest DPH Annual Report – Healthonomics at the 
last meeting of the scrutiny committee, members requested further information on 
rural car ownership. The annual report highlighted how in Gloucestershire, 40,000 
households (17%) do not have access to a car or van (2011 Census). This increases 
to up to 40% of households in wards such as Barton and Tredworth and Westgate in 
Gloucester, and St Paul’s and Oakley in Cheltenham. This may in part be because 
they are central to urban areas and currently served by bus services. 

The table below illustrates the differences between our rural and urban areas. For 
example, there is a clear difference between car/van ownership in the Cotswolds 
depending on whether the household is in an urban or rural location. 

Page 87

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/828228/CAPRICORN_resource.pdf
https://www.college.police.uk/What-we-do/Support/uniformed-policing-faculty/Documents/Public%20Health%20Approaches.pdf
https://www.actionaces.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Resilience-Movie-Roadshow-Report.pdf


Percentage of household with no car or van
Glouces
tershire Chelt Cotswolds

Forest of 
Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkes

Rural 
hamlets 
and 
isolated 
dwellings 5.7 - 6.4 5.8 - 4.7 5.6
Rural town 
and fringe 15.3 6.5 13.9 18.0 - 14.3 15.2
Rural 
village 7.5 - 6.6 9.2 - 7.9 5.6
Rural 10.3 6.5 9.9 12.1 - 9.4 8.9
Urban city 
and town 19.9 22.1 22.5 18.7 22.6 15.6 15.5
Whole 
District 17.1 22.0 12.6 14.4 22.6 13.9 13.6

Source: Car ownership -2011 Census 
Rural/urban classification -2011 Rural/Urban Classification at COA level, ONS

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2019

The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 (IMD 2019) is the official measure of relative 
deprivation for small areas (Lower Super Output Areas – LSOA’s1) in England, and 
ranks every LSOA in England2 from most deprived to least deprived. There has been 
relatively little shift in the relative position of Gloucestershire neighbourhoods 
between 2015 and 2019.

The number of neighbourhoods in the most deprived 10% nationally has fallen by 
one from thirteen in 2015 to twelve in 2019. These twelve areas account for 19,415 
people (3.1% of the county population). Nine of these neighbourhoods are in 
Gloucester, two in Cheltenham and one in the Forest of Dean. At the county level, 
Gloucestershire remains in the least deprived 20% nationally.

At district level, only Gloucester and the Forest of Dean have above average levels 
of deprivation compared with England as a whole, and neither are in the 40% most 
deprived districts. Cotswold and Stroud have no neighbourhoods in the most 
deprived 20% nationally. 

Gloucestershire’s worst performing domain is Barriers to Housing and Services, with 
19% of Gloucestershire’s population living in neighbourhoods in the most deprived 
20% nationally for this domain. Gloucestershire’s best performing domain is Crime, 
with only 5% of Gloucestershire’s population living in neighbourhoods in the most 
deprived 20% nationally for this domain.

1 These are small areas based on Census 2011, and contain an average of 1,600 people.
2 There are 32,844 LSOA’s in England.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/83
3959/IoD2019_Infographic.pdf Infographic. Retrieved 21/10/2019

Page 88

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/833959/IoD2019_Infographic.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/833959/IoD2019_Infographic.pdf


1

Title Chief Fire Officer Report – Adult and Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Civil 
Protection and Coroners Services. 

Date 28th January 2020

Purpose of Report To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of service 
provision, opportunities and challenges

Fire and Rescue

1. HMICFRS Inspection Update

1.1 Full Inspection Report Published: 
The full HMICFRS report for the June 2019 inspection of GFRS was published on 17th 

December 2019. HMICFRS were satisfied with some aspects of the performance of 
GFRS, but identified several areas where the service should make improvements. They 
have concluded that the effectiveness of Gloucestershire’s service requires 
improvement, particularly in the way it protects the public through fire regulation, which 
was graded as inadequate. Other areas for improvement included: 

• its understanding of the risk of fire and other emergencies; 
• the way it prevents fires and other risks; 
• its response to fires and other emergencies; and 
• its response to national risks. 

HMICFRS identified some areas for improvement in the efficiency of its services, in how 
it uses resources and makes its services affordable.
 
HMICFRS also advised that the service require improvement in the way it looks after its 
people, identifying that the way it promotes the right values and culture is inadequate. 
They also advised that the Service require improvement in: 

• getting the right people with the right skills
• ensuring fairness and promoting diversity, and 
• Managing performance and developing leaders. 

The full inspection report has been analysed against the current action-plan and although 
some areas have been updated, the majority of issues were already populated from the 
detailed feedback provided by the inspection team. Work is continuing in all highlighted 
areas.                            

                  (A full update report has been submitted separately.)

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



2

1.2    Protection Pre-inspection:
HMICFRS re-inspection of Fire Protection took place on the 20th - 22nd November 2019 
and the results were conveyed to the CFO in a letter from HMI Wendy Williams on the 
10th December 2019. The letter indicated that overall, HMICFRS were encouraged by 
the progress GFRS had been making. It was noted that suitable governance 
arrangements were in place and that the leadership of both GFRS and GCC were 
treating the improvement of Fire Protection as a priority. The inspection team also noted 
that clear investment had been made to support improvements, (additional staff) and that 
the Service’s understanding of data had improved since the last inspection. They also 
noted that data was now being used to develop the risk-based inspection programme. 
Some further recommendations were made, however the letter recognised the 
considerable progress made.  

1.2 Cultural Improvement:
As part of the Service drive to improve culture and reintegrate with GCC, GFRS’s 
Strategic Leadership team (SLT) are undertaking a programmed series of visits to teams 
across the Service to facilitate specific Core Values Workshops. These include all whole-
time and on-call stations, as well as teams within headquarters. The workshops are being 
supported by HR and will run from December 2019 into 2020. The outcome of each 
workshop is to establish a firm commitment from each team in the Service of how they 
will adopt and model the GCC values. The aim of the visits is to fully align and embed 
the values by the end of February 2020.

2. GFRS Structural Review:

2.1 Implementation:
Implementation of the new structure is underway after the ‘go-live’ date of the 6th 
January 2020. Existing staff have begun transitioning into the new roles and recruitment 
for the new green book posts is underway. The recruitment evaluation for the vacant 
crew manager posts is programmed for the week commencing 13th January.  The aim 
is for the majority of interviews and appointments for these posts to be completed by the 
end of the month.  Subject to notice periods of successful candidates, the Service aims 
to have the new structure fully implemented by the end of March. 

3. Response and Resilience:

3.1 GFRS Support to Sheffield Floods:
Enhanced Logistic Support (ELS) is a national asset supporting National Resilience 
(NR). The GFRS ELS team were requested by NR to support the major incident declared 
in Sheffield after adverse weather led to wide area flooding in the area. The team, made 
up of both operational and non-operational staff were deployed to help manage the 
Strategic Holding Area (SHA) at the South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 
Headquarters in Sheffield City. The team operated from 11th - 13th November 2019, 
offering valuable support to the rescue operation and receiving good feedback from their 
South Yorkshire colleagues.

3.2 GFRS Response to Local Flooding Incidents:
GFRS responded to 26 emergency calls relating to floods over October and November 
2019. The incidents were predominantly centred around Sandhurst, Tirley, Walham and 

Page 90



3

Wainlode and involved rescues from stranded cars and individuals surrounded by water 
in their homes. In separate incidents 18 adults, 1 child, 14 horses and 5 dogs were 
rescued and taken to a place of safety.

3.3 FBU Pensions Legal Dispute:
An Employment Tribunal has issued an interim declaration relating to the Fire Brigades 
Union legal dispute regarding the closure of the 1992 Firefighters Pension Scheme. In 
2015, changes to pension arrangements saw ‘transitional protection’ for older 
Firefighters that were favourable compared to immediate changes for younger members 
of the scheme. This was challenged in the Court of Appeal (December 2018) and found 
to constitute age discrimination. An attempt by the government to appeal at the Supreme 
Court (June 19) was turned down and GFRS is now working to establish the financial 
effects of future developments.   

3.4 Cardiac Care Response:
There has been a reduction in the number of whole-time firefighters volunteering to carry 
out cardiac response following regional discussions with the Fire Brigades Union.  This 
has had an impact on the ability to offer cardiac response for ambulance services.  GFRS 
is maintaining regular communication with SWASfT to ensure they are kept informed and 
the Service will continue to monitor this.  The situation is unlikely to resolve itself locally 
until national discussions around the role of a firefighter are concluded.

4. Technical Services:

4.1 Lease Vehicle Tax Changes:
GFRS currently use a lease scheme for Flexi-duty Officers to provide vehicles that can 
be used for incident response. The ‘benefit-in-kind’ tax implications will be changing in 
April 2020 resulting in a significant increase in the tax burden for individuals. The Service 
has sought tax advice from a consultant to look at the implications and provide 
recommendations on how the Service can operate within the HMRC tax rules. It is likely 
that the Service will move to a provided car scheme, where officers can only use the 
vehicle for business use, with an option to use it privately if they are prepared to take on 
the tax liability. The Service is awaiting the report from the consultant before making a 
final decision, ensuring that any changes are compliant with HMRC tax rules.  Strategic 
finance are supporting this work and policies and procedures will be updated accordingly.

5. Prevention and Protection:

5.1 Safe and Well Backlog: 
The Service has taken a number of steps to deal with the backlog of Safe and Well visits 
identified in the HMICFRS inspection in June 2019. At the time of the inspection, there 
were 701 outstanding visits and the issue was added to the improvement action plan 
overseen by the GFRS Programme Board. In addition to departmental improvements, 
three Community Safety Advisors have been employed on fixed-term contracts starting 
with the Service in early November and are now working to reduce the number of people 
waiting for visits.  The number of those that have been waiting for longer than 28 days 
has now reduced to 88.

Page 91



4

6. Trading Standards:

6.1 Increased Cost of Regulation:
Due to the efforts of Trading Standards to tackle complex offending and traders that 
cause the greatest harm, an increasing proportion of prosecution cases are resulting in 
‘Not Guilty’ pleas and are passed to Crown Court.  This is outside the control of Trading 
Standards, as election for a Crown Court trial is in the gift of the defendant or the 
Magistrates.
Although Crown Court is arguably the right forum for complex cases it also entails 
greater costs, due to Barrister fees and witness expenses. Although TS makes an 
application to Court for cost recovery, defendants are rarely ordered to repay the full 
costs of the investigation. Where they are ordered to make a contribution, the 
payments are regularly missed.  Recovery of unpaid costs is the responsibility of the 
Courts’ Service where it appears to be a low priority.  This continues to be a budgetary 
pressure that is very difficult to forecast. 

7. Civil Protection Team/Local Resilience Forum

7.1 Operation Yellowhammer:
A letter was received on the 24th December 2019, from Catherine Frances (Director 
General, Local Government and Public Services) halting Operation Yellowhammer with 
immediate effect. Due to the passing of the BREXIT Withdrawal Agreement Bill, the 
likelihood of the UK leaving the EU without a deal on 31 January 2020 is greatly reduced. 
GCC will however continue to promote the EU Settlement Scheme.

7.2 BCM Improvement Programme:
ACFO Mark Astle delivered a report to the Corporate Leadership Team (formerly CoMT) 
on 28th November 2019, outlining the results of the 2018 BCM Review and Testing 
Programme and proposing an action-plan for improvement. The review identified that 
BCM planning was not fully implemented in all service areas and that there was a lack 
of awareness of the BCM process by some managers. An outline action-plan was 
submitted, tackling areas of concern such as assurance, policy documentation, training 
and testing. The recommendations were approved and CPT will present a full 2-year 
improvement plan to CoMT in March 2020.   

8. Coroners Services 

8.1 Emergency Mortuary Arrangements:
A meeting of representatives from the south-west Regional Emergency Mortuary 
Arrangements (REMA) Group took place in November 2019. Following the end of 
national arrangements in April 2018, the south west have taken ownership of a number 
of refrigerated body storage containers that could give added capacity and can be 
deployed in a mass fatalities incident. These containers are managed by Bristol City 
Council. Following a refurbishment period, all containers are now operational and fit for 
purpose.

9. Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers

9.1 Decisions taken for this reporting period by the Chief Fire Officer Wayne Bowcock:
• The placement of an interim Service Level Agreement for the disposal of 

vehicles and equipment that are surplus to Service requirements.

Page 92



5

• The award of contract under the KCS National Framework to Capita Secure 
Solutions and Services to supply an upgrade to the incumbent Vision 
Mobilising system.

• The award of contract under the Framework Agreement for Digital and 
Applied Solutions (RM3821) for the procurement of provision of a fleet and 
logistics management system.

• Disposal of obsolete structural firefighting PPE
• Disposal of obsolete operational fire service ladders

Report end

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 HMI Fire Inspection - Update report
	Appendix - gloucestershire-fire-and-rescue-service-report-2018-19
	Contents
	About this inspection
	What inspection judgments mean

	Service in numbers
	Service in numbers
	Overview
	Overall summary of inspection findings

	How effective is the service at keeping people safe and secure?
	Requires improvement
	Summary
	Understanding the risk of fire and other emergencies
	Requires improvement
	Understanding local and community risk
	Having an effective risk management plan
	Maintaining risk information

	Preventing fires and other risks
	Requires improvement
	Prevention strategy
	Promoting community safety
	Road safety

	Protecting the public through fire regulation
	Inadequate
	Risk-based approach
	Enforcement
	Working with others

	Responding to fires and other emergencies
	Requires improvement
	Managing assets and resources
	Response
	Command
	Keeping the public informed
	Evaluating operational performance

	Responding to national risks
	Requires improvement
	Preparedness
	Working with other services
	Working with other agencies


	Areas for improvement
	Areas for improvement
	Causes of concern
	Recommendations
	Areas for improvement
	Areas for improvement
	How efficient is the service at keeping people safe and secure?
	Requires improvement
	Summary
	Making best use of resources
	Requires improvement
	How plans support objectives
	Productivity and ways of working
	Collaboration
	Continuity arrangements

	Making the fire and rescue service affordable now and in the future
	Requires improvement
	Improving value for money
	Innovation
	Future investment and working with others


	Areas for improvement
	Areas for improvement
	How well does the service look after its people?
	Requires improvement
	Summary
	Promoting the right values and culture
	Inadequate
	Workforce wellbeing
	Health and safety
	Culture and values

	Getting the right people with the right skills
	Requires improvement
	Workforce planning
	Learning and improvement

	Ensuring fairness and promoting diversity
	Requires improvement
	Seeking and acting on staff feedback
	Diversity

	Managing performance and developing leaders
	Requires improvement
	Managing performance
	Developing leaders


	Areas for improvement
	Causes of concern
	Recommendations
	Areas for improvement
	Areas for improvement
	Areas for improvement
	Annex A – About the data
	Methodology
	Use of data in the reports and to form judgments
	Population
	2018 survey of public perception of the fire and rescue service
	Staff survey

	Service in numbers
	Perceived effectiveness of service
	Incidents attended per 1,000 population
	Home fire safety checks per 1,000 population
	Fire safety audits per 100 known premises
	Firefighter cost per person per year
	Number of firefighters per 1,000 population, five-year change in workforce and percentage of wholetime firefighters
	Percentage of female firefighters and black, Asian and minority ethnic  (BAME) firefighters


	Annex B – Fire and rescue authority governance
	Metropolitan FRA
	Combined FRA
	County FRA
	Unitary authorities
	London
	Mayoral Combined Authority
	Police, fire and crime commissioner FRA
	Isles of Scilly



	5 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Cabinet Panel
	6 Director of Adult Social Care Report
	7 Director Public Health Report
	8 Chief Fire Officer Report

